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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good afternoon.

          3  I am Council Member Jim Gennaro, Chair of the New

          4  York City Council Committee on Environmental

          5  Protection.  I would like to welcome you to this

          6  joint hearing with the Committee on Education,

          7  chaired by my colleague and good friend, Eva

          8  Moskowitz, who is in transit, and she will be

          9  joining us shortly.

         10                 Today we will hear testimony on five

         11  bills, proposed Intros Numbers 414-A, 415-A, 416-A,

         12  417-A, and 428-A.  These bills promise great

         13  improvement in the environment and health of all New

         14  Yorkers, by cutting harmful emissions from motor

         15  vehicles, and requiring the City to purchase the

         16  cleanest vehicles available.

         17                 Last September, our two committees

         18  held a joint hearing on the first version of the

         19  bills before us today.  Upon consideration of the

         20  testimony received at that hearing, and also through

         21  additional research, through further discussions

         22  with interested parties, the public, the Bloomberg

         23  administration, the first versions were amended.  As

         24  I noted last September, motor vehicle emissions pose

         25  serious and ongoing threats to the environment and
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          2  health of New Yorkers.  This threat stems primarily

          3  from the fact that pollutants that are associated

          4  with vehicle emissions, such as particulate manner

          5  and nitrogen oxides, can cause cancer and result in

          6  very severe respiratory ailments, such as aggravated

          7  asthma, and decreased lung function.  In light of

          8  these serious on- going threats, it is vitally

          9  important that we continue to aggressively pursue

         10  measures to cut vehicle emissions in New York City.

         11                 The bills before us today, by our

         12  committees, will provide very dramatic improvements

         13  to public environmental health in New York City, by

         14  requiring the purchase of the lowest pollutant

         15  emitting vehicles by New York City agencies, and by

         16  requiring the use of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel,

         17  and the best available retrofit technology, in order

         18  to reduce emissions from the City's diesel powered

         19  vehicles, and from sight seeing buses, school buses,

         20  and vehicles that are used in the handling,

         21  transport of our solid waste, and recyclable

         22  materials.

         23                 The legislation under consideration

         24  today, represents a critically important step

         25  forward for New York City. Five sound common sense
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          2  pieces of legislation, that will pay substantial and

          3  long lasting dividends to New York's health and

          4  environment.

          5                 In a moment, although I was going to

          6  introduce Eva, but I will wait until she gets here.

          7  So before I close my statement, and before I

          8  recognize the council members that have joined us

          9  today, I will ask the Counsel to the Committee,

         10  Donna De Costanzo, to detail the amendments that

         11  have been made to the legislation that was sent out

         12  prior to the hearing.  So, you all have copies of

         13  the bills, but there have been some changes since

         14  then, right, since then, that Donna will, you know

         15  briefly summarize, and that will put everybody on

         16  the same page.  So I will call Donna De Costanzo to

         17  go over those amendments, and then I will recognize

         18  the council members that have joined us today, and

         19  then we will bring on our first panel.  Donna De

         20  Costanzo.

         21                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Based on additional

         22  research and discussions of various parties, the

         23  following are changes we expect to make to the

         24  legislation.  Please not however, that we are in

         25  ongoing discussions with the administration
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          2  regarding these bills, and further changes may be

          3  made in addition to the ones mentioned.

          4                 Proposed Intro 415- A.  We expect to

          5  include a longer phase in schedule regarding the

          6  requirement that the City's diesel fuel powered

          7  motor vehicles use the best available retrofit

          8  technology, or be equipped with an engine that meets

          9  the EPA's 2007 or later standards for particulate

         10  matter and nitrogen oxides.  The reporting

         11  requirements will be moved from October 1st, 2006

         12  and every October 1st, thereafter, to January 1st,

         13  2007 and every January 1st thereafter.

         14                 Intro 416- A.  We expect to insert a

         15  definition for the term, operate primarily within

         16  the City of New York, which will mean that greater

         17  than 50 percent of the time spent or miles traveled

         18  by a motor vehicle or non road vehicle during the

         19  performance of a solid waste contract or a

         20  recyclable materials contract, occurs within the

         21  City of New York.  The reporting requirements will

         22  be moved from October 1st 2006 and every October 1st

         23  thereafter, to January 1st 2007 and every January

         24  1st thereafter.  The section that states that the

         25  section shall not apply to any solid waste contract
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          2  or a recyclable materials contract entered into or

          3  renewed prior to the effective date of this section,

          4  will be reinserted.

          5                 Proposed Intro 417- A.  The reporting

          6  requirements also will be moved from October 1st

          7  2007, and every October 1st thereafter to January

          8  1st 2008 and every January 1st thereafter.

          9                 Proposed Intro 428- A.  Again the

         10  reporting requirements will be moved from October

         11  1st 2006 and every October 1st thereafter to January

         12  1st 2007, and very January 1st thereafter.  A

         13  section will be added that will provide that the

         14  requirements use the best available retrofit

         15  technology, will not apply to school buses that are

         16  equipped with engines certified to the 2007 EPA

         17  standards for particulate matter and nitrogen

         18  oxides, or any subsequent EPA standards for such

         19  pollutants that are at least astringent.  And the

         20  bill will go into effect immediately rather than in

         21  180 days.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, thank

         23  you, Donna. Thank you, thank you, Donna.

         24                 Before we start, I just want to

         25  recognize council members that have joined us today.
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          2    We have Council Member Lopez from Manhattan,

          3  Council Member Vallone from Queens, Council Member

          4  Arroyo from the Bronx, Council Member Recchia from

          5  Brooklyn, Council Member Koppell from the Bronx, and

          6  Council Member Liu from Queens.  I would also like

          7  to recognize the hard work of the staff that made

          8  this committee possible.  From my committee, Richard

          9  Colon, we have already heard from Donna, my staff

         10  Peter Washburn and Britney Mariati, all the staff of

         11  the Committee on Education, which I guess Eva will,

         12  she will recognize them when she comes, Chris

         13  Manning from the Mayor's office that always helps us

         14  to get these hearings on track.   And also we have

         15  so many witnesses today that once we get through the

         16  testimony by the administration, we are going to

         17  have to break out the dreaded clock, otherwise there

         18  is no way that we are ever going to be able to get

         19  through the hearing with all the witnesses that want

         20  to present their views. And so, we are doing the

         21  clock.  And once we have the administration done,

         22  that will be the story.  I do not like to do it,

         23  but, just no way around it today.  So, speak quickly

         24  and, in order to help that, I will stop speaking.

         25  But I would like to welcome the panel from the
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          2  administration, it is a pleasure to have you here

          3  today, and we are going to call upon you as soon as

          4  Council Member Liu, who is the author of the School

          5  Bus Bill, gives a statement on his bill.  Council

          6  Member Liu.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

          8  much, Mr. Chairman, for your leadership in convening

          9  this hearing, and for shepherding one, all of these

         10  bills through.  They will serve to make New York

         11  City a more liveable place.

         12                 With respect, specifically to my

         13  bill, Intro 428- A, that concerns school buses, we

         14  are talking about just bringing the school buses

         15  that our youngest kids in New York City ride on, to

         16  the same standards that almost all the buses in New

         17  York City already adhere to.  The MTA buses, the

         18  buses that transport hundreds of thousands of people

         19  daily, people getting to work, going back home.

         20  They are all already clean.  And yet, every day in

         21  the mornings in front of the schools, we continue to

         22  see hundreds of yellow school buses spewing the

         23  blackest, blackest, I do not even know what you call

         24  it, the blackest pollution, the blackest soot, thank

         25  you, I was looking for that word.  And not only is
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          2  it dirtying the air right in front of the schools,

          3  it is also almost at the level of the faces of the

          4  young kids, the exhaust pipes from which this soot

          5  comes out of, is almost at the face level of the

          6  youngest kids standing in the front of the schools,

          7  once they get off the school buses, or as they are

          8  waiting on the sidewalk, to get on the school buses.

          9    So that black soot is going straight into the

         10  lungs of our little kids.  I have got a four year

         11  old, and I can attest to the problem personally.

         12  Every day I wait with my four year old son in front

         13  of his school, and wait for the doors to open, and

         14  just before the doors open, the yellow school buses

         15  start to pull up and you can see, you can see the

         16  pollution that comes out of these outdated vehicles.

         17    We have the technology, we have the capability to

         18  update these school buses to clean the air and to

         19  clean the lungs of our little kids in the school, in

         20  this City.  Thank you very much for coming today,

         21  and thank you Mr. Chairman for holding this hearing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you

         23  Council Member Liu. Thank you for your excellent

         24  bill.  And thank you for your leadership on many

         25  environmental issues.
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          2                 So now, our panel.  Virginia Ross, of

          3  DCAS, it is a pleasure to have you.  My good friend

          4  Bob Avaltroni of DEP, always a pleasure to see you

          5  Bob.  Rocco DiRico of the Department of Sanitation,

          6  welcome.  Marty Oestreicher, Oestreicher, okay, I

          7  got it, I got it, pleasure to have you.  And so you

          8  folks are not on the clock, but we ask you to be as

          9  brief as you possibly can be while getting your

         10  point across.  And we will ask the Counsel to the

         11  Committee, Donna De Costanzo, to give the oath, and

         12  then you can proceed with your good testimony.

         13                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         14  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         15  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         16  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. ROSS: I do.

         18                 MR. AVALTRONI: I do.

         19                 MR. DIRICO: I do.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: I do.

         21                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And you can go

         23  in whatever order you wish to proceed, oh okay.  I

         24  have the order, see? Virginia, how about you first,

         25  okay?
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          2                 MS. ROSS: Good afternoon Chairperson

          3  Gennaro, members of the Committee on Environmental

          4  Protection.  My name is Virginia Ross, I am the

          5  Deputy Commissioner from Municipal Supply Services

          6  at the New York City Department of City- Wide

          7  Administrative Services.  Thank you for the

          8  opportunity to testify today about Intro 414- A.

          9                 First, let me start by saying that

         10  the Bloomberg Administration shares the City

         11  Council's overall objective to purchase clean, low

         12  emission vehicles.  We continue to agree that the

         13  City in its role as market participant, does and

         14  should continue to promote the purchasing of

         15  environmentally friendly fleet.

         16                 As I testified here in September, the

         17  City of New York already leads by example.  I am

         18  pleased to inform you that as of March 31st, one

         19  week ago, the City fleet included 3,299 alternative

         20  fuel vehicles.  This includes 175 dedicated

         21  compressed natural gas vehicles, 1,160 bi- fuel CNG

         22  vehicles, 123 methanol fueled vehicles, 612 ethanol

         23  fueled vehicles, 882 hybrid electric vehicles, and

         24  347 dedicated electric vehicles.  These alternative

         25  fuel vehicles and other vehicles in the City's
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          2  fleet, receive high ratings under the California LEV

          3  II Standards.

          4                 DCAS currently has Requirements

          5  Contracts for Honda Civic and Toyota Prius hybrid

          6  electric vehicles, both of which are certified to

          7  advance technology, partial zero emissions vehicles

          8  standards.  There is a Requirements Contract in

          9  place for the Ford Escape, hybrid electric vehicle

         10  which is certified as a partial zero admissions

         11  vehicle.  Meeting the super ultra low emission

         12  vehicle standard, DCAS has an RC for the Honda Civic

         13  CNG and the Chevrolet Silverado hybrid electric

         14  vehicle.  The ethanol fueled Ford Taurus, and the

         15  hybrid electric Honda Accord, are both ultra low

         16  emission vehicles, and available under our

         17  Requirements Contract.  Another vehicle available on

         18  an RC which has a high California LEV II rating, is

         19  the Ford Focus, which while operating on gasoline,

         20  is certified as a PZEF.

         21                 We are in full compliance with Local

         22  Law 6 of 1991, the City's original Alternative Fuel

         23  Vehicle legislation.  DCAS carefully reviews every

         24  vehicle requisition from Mayoral agencies for

         25  compliance with Local Law 6 requirements.  Our
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          2  Alternative Fuel Vehicle Compliance since 1999 is as

          3  follows, in 1999, 83 percent of new light duty

          4  vehicles purchased, were alternative fuel vehicles,

          5  in 2000- 80 percent, 2001- 80 percent, 2002- 85

          6  percent, 2003- 97 percent, 2004- 89 percent.  Thus

          7  far in 2005, our compliance rate is 86 percent.  As

          8  you can see, the City has met the Local Law 6

          9  mandate that 80 percent of new light duty vehicle

         10  purchases, be alternative fuel vehicles every year,

         11  and has far exceeded that standard in the first

         12  three years of the administration.

         13                 While we agree with the intent of

         14  Intro 414- A, the legislation you are considering

         15  today, we continue to have serious concerns about

         16  our ability to procure vehicles in accordance with

         17  the applicable State and local laws under that bill

         18  as currently drafted.  In addition, the bid

         19  specifications are designed to address the

         20  operational needs of the agencies.  Cost and

         21  availability are critical factors that need to be

         22  addressed in determining what vehicles should

         23  comprise the City's fleet. Vehicles with the lowest

         24  emissions may not meet the City's needs, may not

         25  address serious operational concerns, and may be
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          2  prohibitively expensive.  Together, all of us

          3  involved in refining this legislation, have an

          4  obligation to ensure, that the vehicles in our

          5  City's fleet are the right ones for getting the job

          6  done, for delivering services to the public in a

          7  timely and cost effective manner.

          8                 We must be sure that the

          9  infrastructure necessary to support those vehicles

         10  is in place and operational, with no risk to service

         11  delivery.  One again, as the primary procurement

         12  agency of goods for City agencies, DCAS is charged

         13  with purchasing vehicles, which meet agency needs

         14  within the confines of the applicable laws and

         15  budgetary constraints.

         16                 DCAS will continue to work closely

         17  with our operational agencies, the Mayor's Office

         18  and the City Council, on this legislation.  We hope

         19  to finalize the Vehicle Purchasing Bill, which

         20  enables us to purchase the cleanest fleet possible,

         21  while still meeting the operational needs of City

         22  agencies, and taking budgetary concerns into

         23  account, in service to the public.  I would be happy

         24  to answer any questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you, Ms. Ross.  What we will do, questions or

          3  comments after all the members of the panel have

          4  made their statements.  Thank you.

          5                 MR. AVALTRONI: Good afternoon, Mr.

          6  Chairman, members of the committee.  My name is Bob

          7  Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner at DEP and I am here

          8  to speak with reference to 415- A.

          9                 The Bloomberg administration is

         10  firmly committed to pursuing strategies to make

         11  existing diesel engines cleaner through use of an

         12  ultra low sulfur fuel and installation of emission

         13  control devices.  City agencies have been working on

         14  reducing diesel emissions well in advance of the

         15  2006 Federal mandate, for nationwide use of ultra

         16  low sulfur fuel, and the 2007 milestone for nation-

         17  wide availability of cleaner burning diesel engines.

         18                 Through working with diesel engines

         19  operating with catalysts or particulate filters

         20  and/or using low sulfur fuel, agency fleet managers

         21  and procurement specialists have acquired experience

         22  that informs our comments on Intro 415- A.  In

         23  addition, the work that DEP and other City agencies

         24  have done in meeting Local Law 77's mandates, also

         25  guides our comments on Intro 415- A. The
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          2  administration's fleet managers are committed to

          3  aggressively pursuing emission reduction strategies

          4  for our diesel fleets. However, in the interest of

          5  identifying realistic and practical goals for

          6  reducing diesel emissions, while continuing to

          7  provide essential City services, DEP offers the

          8  following comments on Intro 415- A.  With the

          9  exception of the first comment, all the comments

         10  below pertain to the requirement that DEP make the

         11  determination as to what constitutes best available

         12  retrofit technology, which I will refer to later as

         13  BARTS.

         14                 Availability of ultra low sulfur

         15  diesel fuel, sometime next year, Federal regulations

         16  will require nation- wide use of diesel fuel

         17  containing 15 parts per million or less of sulfur.

         18  In anticipation of that requirement, refiners and

         19  distributors have been creating the infrastructure

         20  necessary to provide that product.  However, until

         21  the market provides additional vendors, Intro 415- A

         22  will require the City to increase its reliance on a

         23  single vendor.  Relying on a single vendor to

         24  provide an essential product, carries with it

         25  certain financial risks.  In addition, some emission
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          2  control devices will not work while using

          3  conventional fuel with much higher sulfur content.

          4  For example, if the ultra low sulfur fuel were

          5  temporarily unavailable, diesel vehicles equipped

          6  with particulate filters, may not be able to operate

          7  on conventional fuel, unless either the filter is

          8  removed, or much more aggressive maintenance program

          9  is put in place.  Finally, although the City intends

         10  to continue increasing its use of ultra low sulfur

         11  fuel, we should consider carefully the consequences

         12  of enacting statutes that increase reliance on a

         13  single fuel vendor.

         14                 Limitations on designated or best

         15  available retrofit technologies or BARTS, similar to

         16  requirement in Local Law 77, Intro 415- A requires

         17  DEP to make determinations, as to what constitutes

         18  the best available retrofit technology, for reducing

         19  the emissions of particulates, identified in Local

         20  Law 77 as primary concern, and nitrogen oxides, a

         21  secondary concern.  In the context of the BART rule,

         22  making required under Local Law 77, the meaning of

         23  primary and secondary has been interpreted

         24  differently by DEP and the council.  DEP believes

         25  when there is device that can achieve modest
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          2  reduction in PM, and some reduction on Nox as well,

          3  then that device should be preferred or a device

          4  that reduces PM greatly but has no effect on Nox.

          5  Language in Intro 415- A does not fully resolve this

          6  issue of the relevant points of PM and Nox, and

          7  should therefore be discussed further.

          8                 In addition. Local Law 77 permitted

          9  the DEP commission to identify as a BAT a technology

         10  not verified by the EPA or the California Air

         11  Resources Board.  Perhaps unintentionally, Intro

         12  415- A does not permit the DEP Commissioner to allow

         13  the use in New York City of BART's that are not EPA

         14  or CARB certified.  Although DEP will greatly on

         15  CARB and EPA lists, will rely greatly on CARB and

         16  EPA lists of certified devices, restricting BART's

         17  to those lists, may reduce the City's ability to

         18  use, if only for pilot purposes, devices that have

         19  not received CARB or EPA certification.

         20                 As Donna eluded to before, let me

         21  just deviate from the text, we continue to work

         22  together.

         23                 Definition of BART, best available

         24  retrofit technology, Intro 415- A requires DEP to

         25  designate BART's that in combination with the use of
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          2  ultra low sulfur fuel, maximize the reduction of

          3  particulates and nitrogen oxides.  Intro 415- A does

          4  not expressly mention the consideration of cost or

          5  operational factors, when DEP creates the list of

          6  BART's, or when vehicle users select a BART.

          7  Clearly, it would be imprudent to ignore cost or

          8  operational factors when choosing a BART.  There is

          9  more information available about on road diesel

         10  vehicles than we believe will allow the definition

         11  of BART to include criteria, such as cost and impact

         12  on vehicle operations.  Once again, we will not

         13  compromise the environment, we only ask to consider

         14  these facts.

         15                 Authorizing pilot or experimental

         16  BART use, the administration would also like to

         17  discuss with the council, the addition to Intro 415-

         18  A of provisions that would authorize agencies to

         19  procure and use small pilot quantities of emission

         20  control devices that may constitute best available

         21  technology, once they are fully tested.  Such a

         22  provision would assist fleet managers in testing

         23  emission control devices or configurations of

         24  devices that are best suited for each agency, and

         25  can be phased in for the remaining equipment where
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          2  appropriate.

          3                 Compliance time tables, as written in

          4  Intro 415- A, requires one third of City's diesel

          5  vehicles to use BART by July 2006.  That ambitious

          6  deadline does not take into account, the time period

          7  required to promulgate BART regulations, purchase

          8  BART's and install them on one third of the City's

          9  diesel fleet.  As stated on discussions with

         10  council, the administration's recommendation is that

         11  a less aggressive time frame be considered to allow

         12  adequate time to develop a promulgated BART rule,

         13  and to set a schedule that results in greatly

         14  reduced emissions, from the entire diesel fuel

         15  within a reasonable amount of time.  Additionally,

         16  we are aware that the council needs accountability

         17  and the agencies require flexibility.  However, we

         18  believe that we can balance both by establishing a

         19  series of milestones, based on a combination of

         20  actual vehicle change and emissions benefits

         21  beginning in July 2007 and, creating a sunset

         22  provision, as to when the retrofitting requirements

         23  end.

         24                 Budget and Operational Concerns, as

         25  mentioned earlier the administration also has a
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          2  budgetary and operational concern about retrofitting

          3  existing equipment.  In many cases the cost to

          4  retrofit may very well exceed the actual value of

          5  the vehicle, as retrofit equipment cost between $45

          6  hundred dollars for a simple catalyst, and up to $20

          7  thousand dollars per unit for a Nox reduction

          8  catalyst with a particulate filter.  In some cases

          9  the equipment requires a vehicle specific design to

         10  ensure that a particulate emission control device,

         11  can function correctly on a vehicle class.  There is

         12  also a long lead time in ordering some of the

         13  emission control devices, and that may also effect

         14  the choice of devices.  Different devices also have

         15  different maintenance requirements, thus adding to

         16  the cost concerns.

         17                 Finally, it should be restated unless

         18  ample time was given to agencies to undergo

         19  retrofitting, there would be service impacts, as

         20  well.  Cost and operational factors are clearly

         21  common sense criteria, that should be taken into

         22  consideration when making choices on BAT's, and

         23  Intro 415- A should make that clear.

         24                 I would now like to introduce Rocco

         25  DiRico, the Department of Sanitation's Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Support Service, who will comment

          3  on Intro 416- A and we would be happy to answer any

          4  questions as they relate to this.  Rocco?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          6  Thank you, Bob. Mr. DiRico, pleasure, pleasure to

          7  have you.

          8                 MR. DIRICO: Thank you.  Good

          9  afternoon Chairman Gennaro, members of the committee

         10  on Environmental Protection and Education.  I am

         11  Rocco DiRico, Assistant Commissioner for Support

         12  Service for the New York City Department of

         13  Sanitation.  I join my colleagues from DCAS and DEP

         14  and all other City agencies, in support of a

         15  reasonable and achievable bill to protect the City's

         16  environment and public health of its citizens.  I

         17  would like to add to the testimony already provided

         18  on Intro 414- A, and then briefly comment on 416- A.

         19                 Intro 414- A requires that 30 percent

         20  of the Department's annual vehicle purchase, consist

         21  of alternate fuel sanitation vehicles beginning in

         22  Fiscal Year 2007, and this amount increases to 50

         23  percent in 2011.  The bill defines alternate fuel

         24  sanitation vehicles as vehicles operated solely on

         25  an alternate fuel, which does not include ultra low
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          2  sulfur diesel or hybrid technology.  The proposed

          3  bill would therefore mandate that as of 2007, 30

          4  percent of the Department's annual fleet purchase,

          5  be CNG powered vehicles.

          6                 The Department of Sanitation has

          7  always taken a proactive approach to testing and

          8  utilizing advance pollution control technology and

          9  alternative fuels.  And its clean air

         10  accomplishments have been nationally recognized as

         11  the most advanced among large heavy duty fleets.

         12  Ten years ago, the Department voluntarily developed

         13  the first dedicated CNG street sweeper and

         14  collection truck.  The Department has always tested

         15  and continues to test vehicles that show promise and

         16  reliability, with the latest pollution control

         17  technologies, including CNG and hybrid vehicles.

         18  Beginning in 1997, the City's prototype policy had

         19  invited all engine and chassis manufacturers to

         20  participate and build CNG vehicles suitable for this

         21  Department's application.

         22                 It has been the Department's

         23  experience that existing CNG collection trucks are

         24  not suitable to meet the Department's every day

         25  needs.  These CNG trucks are less mechanically
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          2  reliable than diesel collection trucks, and pose

          3  many operational problems, as well.  These drawbacks

          4  include short driving range, poor maneuverability,

          5  insufficient fueling procedures, expensive purchase

          6  price and increased maintenance costs.  The

          7  Department recently compared the number of days, 26

          8  newly purchased CNG trucks were out of service for

          9  repair, with 26 diesel trucks put into service at

         10  approximately the same time.  The CNG were out of

         11  service four times as many days as the diesel

         12  vehicles.  Sixty percent of that repair down time

         13  occurred during the winter season, sometimes

         14  adversely impacting the Department's snow clearing

         15  efforts.

         16                 One critical factor concerning CNG

         17  has not changed since 1991 when Local Law was

         18  enacted.  New York City does not have an adequate

         19  CNG fueling infrastructure to support a large

         20  decentralized heavy duty CNG fleet.  If a more

         21  suitable CNG truck became available and approved,

         22  the Department would not have the means to utilize

         23  such a fleet.  The Department's operations require a

         24  decentralized fueling infrastructure built at

         25  Department districts, to ensure that the entire
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          2  Department program runs smoothly 365 days a year.

          3  This infrastructure does not exist at this time.

          4  Additionally, the Department would have to spend

          5  great capital resources to build necessary

          6  facilities, especially equipped to house CNG

          7  vehicles.

          8                 The current cost of a CNG collection

          9  truck is $95 thousand dollars higher than a diesel

         10  powered vehicle.  And unfortunately the Mack engine

         11  manufacturer recently informed the Department, that

         12  due to a lack of interest in CNG engines, it will

         13  discontinue improving its CNG powered E7 for four

         14  years, beginning next year.  This engine is the only

         15  CNG engine approved for Department purchase that is

         16  capable of producing the horse power and torque

         17  required for Department collection trucks.

         18                 For the reasons that I have briefly

         19  discussed, the Department has fundamental concerns

         20  about the many operational infrastructure obstacles

         21  that 414- A poses.  The Department could not comply

         22  with the purchase requirements contained in this

         23  legislation.  If Intro number 414- A is passed as

         24  written, the Department's operations would be

         25  halted, and stagnate the progress of the
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          2  Department's nationally recognized clean air

          3  initiatives.

          4                 But let me emphasize that the

          5  Department is committed to continuing its leading

          6  emission reduction program, including the continued

          7  testing of CNG vehicles.  The Department is

          8  currently examining the feasibility of incorporating

          9  additional mid range alternate fuel vehicles into

         10  its fleet.  We have equipped over 700 vehicles with

         11  DPF's and DOC's, and we intend to continue this

         12  emission reduction program.  The Department's use of

         13  ultra low fuel coupled with these after treatments,

         14  has provided an equally effective technology to

         15  reduce emissions, without significantly adding to

         16  the greenhouse gasses emitted by CNG engines.

         17  Furthermore, in keeping with the Department's

         18  pioneering spirit, we are actively participating in

         19  developing two types of hybrid propulsion technology

         20  vehicles, for a heavy duty refuse collection fleet.

         21  The Department believes that the hybrid technology

         22  offers a promising avenue for the urban refuse

         23  collection truck.  The industry predicts that the

         24  hybrid vehicles in this category will increase fuel

         25  economy by 40 percent, thereby reducing PM and Nox,
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          2  with little capital investment required.

          3                 I will now briefly discuss 416- A.

          4  This bill requires all contractors and sub

          5  contractors managing any portion of the City solid

          6  waste or recyclables that primarily operate within

          7  New York City, to use ultra low and best available

          8  technology for PM and Nox reducing technology on

          9  their vehicles, within three months of this bill's

         10  passage.  I understand that has changed somewhat.

         11  The Department supports the intent, and appreciates

         12  the recent amendments narrowing the scope of this

         13  legislation, but some concerns remain that private

         14  contractors will not be able to comply with the time

         15  constraints proposed in this bill.  Private waste

         16  carters would be required to make that transition to

         17  ultra low, and install the BAT's on all vehicles

         18  operating within New York City.  There is only one

         19  distributor of ultra low sulfur in the greater

         20  Metropolitan area, thus as the use of ultra low

         21  increases, the possibility of a shortage of ultra

         22  low sulfur diesel, significantly increases.  The

         23  City's export program would be severely impacted,

         24  should private contractors be unable to comply with

         25  this bill.  In short, the private contractors need
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          2  more time to comply with the provisions of 416- A.

          3                 Additionally, the monitoring

          4  provisions set forth in 416, may be difficult to

          5  enforce.  The proposed bill does not specify whether

          6  the enforcing agency would have to road test refuse

          7  or collection vehicles, and inspect whether after

          8  treatment devices were installed or not on truck

          9  engines.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  testify this afternoon and I would be happy to

         12  answer any questions that anyone may have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  DiRico.  I appreciate your comprehensive testimony

         15  and before we call our next witness, I would just

         16  like to recognize that we are joined by Council

         17  Member Gallagher from Queens.  Dennis was here or is

         18  nearby or something.  Mr. Oestreicher.

         19                 MR. OSTREICHER: Thank you Chairman

         20  Gennaro and Chairwoman Moskowitz and members of the

         21  committee, for inviting the Department of Education

         22  to testify regarding Intro 428- A.  I am Marty

         23  Ostreicher, Chief Executive for the Office of School

         24  Support Services, which includes the Office of

         25  People Transportation.
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          2                 As I noted when I last testified, the

          3  Department shares the council's goal to reduce

          4  diesel fuel emissions from its school vehicles.  I

          5  can update you on the status of our two New York

          6  State funded programs.

          7                 As Governor Pataki recently announced

          8  NYPA, New York Power Authority is about to begin the

          9  installation of emission filters on between 1,500 to

         10  2,000 school buses serving our students throughout

         11  the City.  This is at least 300 more buses than

         12  originally planned.  The program will begin in the

         13  Bronx next week. Diesel oxidation catalysts have

         14  already been installed on 246 buses.

         15                 We have begun implementation of the

         16  NYSERDA grant in New York State Energy Research

         17  Development Authority grant, in which one of our bus

         18  contractors is installing emission reduction

         19  equipment on approximately 200 additional buses.  We

         20  are in the final testing stage to determine the

         21  appropriate type of equipment to place on these

         22  buses.  Installation should be completed over the

         23  next few months.  The Department, as I said, is

         24  committed to installing bus emission filters on each

         25  and every general education vehicles serving our

                                                            34

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  students.  This is consistent with the legislation.

          3  When I last testified, I expressed some concern

          4  regarding what I felt were unrealistic time frames.

          5  I am pleased to see the time frames have been

          6  modified.  We support the new time frames, as

          7  outlined in section 6c1i- ii.  We will be able to

          8  install the best available retrofit technology that

          9  is applicable to our school buses' engines and

         10  applications.

         11                 I would request that the bill push

         12  back the deadline for ultra low sulfur diesel fuel,

         13  to the date consistent with the Federal regulations,

         14  which is September 2006.  As part of the NYPA Bus

         15  Emission Reduction Plan, four of our largest

         16  contractors are currently using ultra low sulfur

         17  diesel fuel.  Ultra low sulfur diesel fuel has been

         18  running from 15 to 30 cents a gallon over the cost

         19  of low sulfur diesel fuel.  This price differential

         20  has been subsidized by the New York Power Authority,

         21  which will continue to do so until the Federal

         22  regulations go into effect.  At that point, when it

         23  will become mandatory, all our bus contractors will

         24  have to use the ULSD without any financial

         25  assistance.  September 1st, 2006 is a date that was
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          2  anticipated by the entire school bus industry.

          3                 We still need some clarification on a

          4  number of other items on the bill, but I am

          5  confident that we will be able to work with the

          6  council to come to an understanding on these items

          7  and on a workable school bus transportation

          8  emissions bill.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         10  Thank you all for your thoughtful and comprehensive

         11  testimony, and we do have some questions for you.  I

         12  believe Council Member Vallone, either has a

         13  statement or a question, so I recognize Council

         14  Member Vallone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.  I had some questions, but they were

         17  answered so let me just thank the people up there,

         18  especially Bob Avaltroni, who we have worked so

         19  closely with as a sponsor of every bill here.  I

         20  just want to make it clear that we have been working

         21  with you and your agencies throughout this process,

         22  and you have been very helpful.  We have made some

         23  changes in time frames and things like that.  We

         24  have made some changes the EPA recommended to get

         25  around the pre- emption issue.  And hopefully soon,
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          2  working together, we can bring this to fruition

          3  because like Council Member Liu here, I have two

          4  little girls I pick up from school and we are just

          5  sick and tired, literally sick sometimes, of having

          6  to inhale that, those bus fumes.  So thank you for

          7  all your help and we look forward to working with

          8  you.  And thank you, Chairman Gennaro for all his

          9  work on this.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Vallone.  Your comments are most

         12  appreciated.  Council Member Liu.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.  I just wanted to express my gratitude to

         15  the people we have up on this panel.  I think your

         16  testimony has been very helpful to us, and I know

         17  that we are working closely with you to enact this

         18  needed and important legislation, and I especially

         19  appreciate Mr. Oestreicher's comments.  This is

         20  definitely an issue.  We need to clean up the school

         21  buses.  It has just taken way, way too long. And,

         22  thank you, thank you very much.  I hope that we can

         23  come up with something final to enact soon.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I wish to be,

         25  wish to be associated with the remarks of Council
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          2  Member Vallone and Council Member Liu.  This has

          3  been a great cooperative effort between the council

          4  and the administration and the various stakeholder

          5  groups. We clearly have some more distance to cover.

          6    The sense I get from the staff is that the

          7  Bloomberg administration is really trying to partner

          8  with us in a very significant way, to reach the

          9  objective that we all want to reach, and that is

         10  good.  With that said, many of the points and

         11  problems in your testimony are very well taken, and

         12  will get the utmost consideration from the council

         13  members and the staff.  So, you did such a good job

         14  we do not have really much more in the way of

         15  questions for you.  So, thank you very much for

         16  being here.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Mr. Chairman?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, pardon me.

         19  Okay.  Council Member Lopez.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just, if you

         21  allow me to make a comment.  I just wanted to

         22  indicate that the bill 417- A, I believe, let me

         23  make sure, I am sorry, just give me one second, 428-

         24  A.  I am a sponsor of that bill that was sort of a

         25  merger of a series of bills that we submitted in the
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          2  council, different council members.  And we came to

          3  an agreement that the bills would be one. One of the

          4  ones that I submitted is subsumed in this bill, in

          5  428 A.  And I want you to know that for me this bill

          6  is very important because we cannot continue to have

          7  these buses running in our community in the stage

          8  that they are, carrying children with asthma inside.

          9    And what we are doing to them is transporting them

         10  in the incubator for asthma.  That is what we are

         11  doing.  And I hope that we can pass this bill in a

         12  way that is negotiated with the administration for

         13  the benefit of the children.  Personally, I have no

         14  doubt that the administration is looking into this

         15  very seriously, but my biggest concern when I put my

         16  bill on this, was basically based on those buses

         17  being incubators for asthma and nothing else.

         18  Because the fumes go back inside of the buses and

         19  that is where they spend sometimes 48 to 50 minutes.

         20    The reason you see my name as a second in there,

         21  is because I agreed to be part of the consolidation

         22  of the bills.  And as Council Member Liu spoke

         23  before, it is his bill, but it is my bill, too.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Lopez.  Thank you for your long

          3  standing efforts on this very, very important issue,

          4  and I recognize once again Council Member Liu.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I just want to

          6  state for the record that Council Member Lopez is

          7  number one in my book.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: John stole my

          9  line once again. And so, I was thinking of saying

         10  that but you beat me to it.  The most important

         11  thing is that it got said.  Thank you all very much

         12  for your great work.

         13                 Okay, well we will bring forward the

         14  second panel. Rich Kassel from NRDC, Andy Darrell of

         15  Environmental Defense, is this right?  Okay?

         16  Yolande Cadore from We Act, I hope I am saying that

         17  right, Antonia Bryson of Inform.

         18                 Thank you all for coming.  Thank you

         19  for your great efforts.  It is wonderful to be able

         20  to work with folks like you that really make such a

         21  great difference for the environment every day.  So

         22  I thank you for your efforts so far, and I thank you

         23  for being here today, and I thank you in advance for

         24  everything you are going to do to help us to get

         25  this to work.  So, with that said, I will have Donna
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          2  De Costanzo to administer the oath, and then you can

          3  each start with your statements and we will start

          4  from my left, work through the rest.  We will start

          5  with Rich, and we will work the other way.

          6                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

          7  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

          8  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          9  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         10                 MR. KASSEL: I do.

         11                 MR. DARRELL: I do.

         12                 MS. CADORE: I do.

         13                 MS. BRYSON: I do.

         14                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And okay.  Are

         16  you going to do the clock?

         17                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Ready,

         19  set, go.

         20                 MR. KASSEL: Okay.  I will talk fast.

         21  My name is Rich Kassel and --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It is not

         23  working, we may end up with the egg timer.

         24                 MR. KASSEL: I am going to keep

         25  talking and get extra seconds.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          3  Absolutely.  Keep it going.  Use the extra time and

          4  go for it.

          5                 MR. KASSEL: I am going to use it.  I

          6  am a Senior Attorney with the Natural Resources

          7  Defense Council where I run our Clean Vehicle and

          8  Fuels Project, which constitutes projects that stem

          9  from here at home in New York, to national policy,

         10  to around the world to clean up fuels in vehicles,

         11  in diesels, gasoline, regardless of the fuel,

         12  regardless of the vehicle.  We strongly support

         13  today's Intros, as you know.  These Intros continue

         14  more than a decade's worth of council leadership on

         15  clean fuel issues that date back to Local Law 6 in

         16  1991.

         17                 Whether or not that clock is going to

         18  start is very distracting.

         19                 But there are three simple reasons

         20  why we support this package.  First, by requiring

         21  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel and advanced emission

         22  control technologies on all school buses, tour

         23  buses, garbage trucks and other City owned diesel

         24  vehicles, the City would be taking an immediate

         25  quantifiable step to reduce the public health harms
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          2  and threats, of diesel emissions in every

          3  neighborhood of the City.

          4                 Second, by requiring the Department

          5  of Sanitation to make a significant shift to

          6  alternative fuels, the City would be taking an

          7  additional step towards cleaner air, energy

          8  diversity and energy security, in a vehicle sector

          9  that is particularly well suited for alternative

         10  fuels, like natural gas, despite what we have

         11  already heard today.

         12                 Third, be requiring the City to buy

         13  the cleanest available light duty vehicles, cars,

         14  pick ups and sport utility vehicles, and to reduce

         15  fuel consumption in these vehicles by 20 percent

         16  over the next five years, the City would be

         17  continuing its national leadership on vehicle

         18  issues.  It is a worthy successor to Local Law 6,

         19  and will be helping us to break the chain that ties

         20  us to imported petroleum.  And at NRDC, we say

         21  Bravo.

         22                 There is a lot more details in my

         23  written testimony, but let me just touch on a couple

         24  of points on each of these. First, why it is so

         25  important to reduce diesel emissions.  We all know
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          2  all the health information, and you have heard it

          3  from me before, and it is in my testimony.  But let

          4  me just throw two statistics out.  In 1995, we

          5  estimated that roughly 4,000 New Yorkers were dying

          6  prematurely every year as a result of breathing

          7  particulate matter at then current levels.  At the

          8  same time, New York State DEC was estimating that

          9  roughly half of all the street level particulates in

         10  Midtown, came from a very small number of diesel

         11  vehicles.  Well, the MTA has cleaned up its buses,

         12  we have got new Federal standards coming, but

         13  recently a study showed that roughly 1800 people are

         14  still dying prematurely every year in New York City

         15  from ailments that are linked to diesel exhaust.

         16  Why? Because most of the diesel engines in the City

         17  continue to emit extremely high levels of

         18  particulates and nitrogen oxides, similar to what

         19  was on the street a decade ago.

         20                 Let me talk for a second about

         21  natural gas, in the garbage trucks and Intro 414- A.

         22    We think that this requirement makes a lot of

         23  sense.  There has been a lot of talk over the last

         24  few years about whether natural gas still plays a

         25  role, and we think it does.  We think it
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          2  particularly does in the sanitation sector, where

          3  because of the unique operating characteristics of

          4  those trucks, they are rarely operating at high

          5  enough engine exhaust temperatures to properly

          6  regenerate trapped particles.  So we think natural

          7  gas provides clean and reliable service in the

          8  sanitation industry, despite what we heard earlier.

          9  If we look more broadly at the experience around the

         10  country, we think that statement is supported.

         11                 Third, let me talk about reducing

         12  fuel consumption from the City's fleets.  There is

         13  no question that we have to start locally to break

         14  the chain to import a petroleum.  We are living at a

         15  time where we are consuming more than 20 million

         16  barrels of oil every day.  We are importing 60

         17  percent of it from autocratic regimes that share a

         18  very few, if any, of our democratic values. Two

         19  decades from now, if our current trends continue, we

         20  will be importing 70 percent of our needs.  That is

         21  just wrong.  And the Federal government is not

         22  helping out, so States and municipalities have to

         23  step into the void, and that is increasingly

         24  happening and that is a good thing.  So just as you

         25  led with municipal procurement 14 years ago with
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          2  Local Law 6, today it is time to address the fuel

          3  economy picture, and you are doing that.  The

          4  technology exists to meet the targets you have laid

          5  out handily, and the City will save fuel costs in

          6  doing so.

          7                 If I could take about 30 seconds to

          8  just respond to a couple of comments that have been

          9  made.

         10                 First, with respect to the supply of

         11  ultra low sulfur diesel, it is clear that in the

         12  next year we are going to see plenty of ultra low

         13  sulfur coming into the marketplace.  EPA says more

         14  than 90 percent of the nations fuel will be ultra

         15  low by next summer.  That will not happen over

         16  night.

         17                 Second, with respect to increase --

         18  can I just touch on those?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, go ahead.

         20                 MR. KASSEL: With respect to changing

         21  the definition of alternative fuels to include

         22  hybrids, we love hybrids, everybody knows we love

         23  hybrids.  What is ironic here, is that the same

         24  Department that is saying we cannot do natural gas

         25  because it costs too much money, says give us the
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          2  chance to do hybrids, which according to the MTA

          3  figures, carries a capital cost that is perhaps 15

          4  times as high.

          5                 And last, I will just say that it is

          6  really important to have insert a mandatory

          7  retirement age in the school bus component.  There

          8  is no reason any student in New York should be on a

          9  bus that is more than 12 years old.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         11  Thank you, Rich. We have a little bit of a time

         12  thing on both ends there.  You know, you got a

         13  little up front time, a little like, after the bell

         14  time, I have to kind of -- But you worked on Local

         15  Law 6 in 1991, right? Were you here in 1991?

         16                 MR. KASSEL: I was here in 1991, but

         17   --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KASSEL: I see, so you are

         19  like a 1991 exemption, to go a little bit on.

         20                 MR. KASSEL: Okay thanks.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, well we

         22  have to watch that with other savings.  Rich, thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 But before we bring on Andy, we have

         25  the Chair of the Committee on Education, Council

                                                            47

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  Member Moskowitz, and as you all know Intro 428- A

          3  is co- referred to her committee, and she is here

          4  with us briefly.  She has an emergency that she is

          5  trying to deal with, but she made time to be here.

          6  We are very grateful to have her here, and the

          7  Chairwoman has a brief statement.  And it is my

          8  pleasure to recognize her.  Council Member

          9  Moskowitz.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Gennaro, I very much appreciate all

         12  the work that you have done on these bills,

         13  particularly the school bus emission bill.  This

         14  City has a major asthma epidemic and we must find a

         15  way to reduce toxic emissions.  This is a bill that

         16  is complicated, but I think that we have gone a

         17  very, long way to making this a terrific bill, which

         18  will really materially impact the lives of children.

         19    And I look forward to its passage, after more

         20  discussion and a bit more fine tuning.  Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         23  Thank you, Council Member, Moskowitz.  Thank you so

         24  much for being here.

         25                 Andy.
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          2                 MR. DARRELL: Thank you very much.  I

          3  am Andy Darrell.  I am the Regional Director for

          4  Environmental Defense here in New York.  Thank you

          5  very much for the committee, for the opportunity to

          6  work with you on these bills.  We are very strongly

          7  supportive of the City moving forward with these

          8  bills, as they were with Local Law 77 over a year

          9  ago.  That bill, Local Law 77, set a high bar for

         10  the use of clean fields and retrofits for diesel

         11  construction machinery, and now it is time to turn

         12  attention to school buses, to trucks, and to the

         13  rest of the City fleet, and bring it up to the same,

         14  the same standard.  And that is what this package of

         15  bills would do.  It would, if enacted, would be the

         16  most comprehensive, over arching commitment, that

         17  the City has yet made to take advantage of the

         18  newest technologies, the most advanced technologies

         19  and the cleanest fuels available in the market

         20  today. And by doing that, it would really set a

         21  national standard for other cities to follow.

         22                 I just want to ask you to take a

         23  minute with me just to take a deep breath here in

         24  this room, to inhale deeply and as you are inhaling,

         25  think about this.  About 80 percent of the air
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          2  cancer risk that you are inhaling, is coming from

          3  the transportation sector in New York City.  That is

          4  across the five boroughs.  It is even higher here in

          5  Manhattan.  It is about 95 percent.  A lot of that

          6  is coming out of the diesel sector.  There is

          7  technology out there that can cut the diesel

          8  emissions by up to 90 percent.  And that is the

          9  technology that should be used, as in a wide spread

         10  away as possible across all fleets.

         11                 Folks from the City today, I have

         12  testified in part about issues of cost, and as we

         13  think about cost, I would just urge the City to also

         14  think about the cost that the health impact of that

         15  pollution is bringing to our children, and to our

         16  residents here in New York City.  The City spends

         17  hundreds of millions of dollars in cost on asthma

         18  hospitalizations, children miss school, go to the

         19  emergency room because of their asthma attacks

         20  triggered by diesel and vehicle pollution.  That is

         21  the cost that we must be looking at, at the same

         22  time, as we make decisions about whether we spend $5

         23  thousand dollars or $3 thousand dollars or $10

         24  thousand dollars on a piece of technology.  It makes

         25  sense to buy the best technologies and put in on the
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          2  public fleets.  It is a wise use of tax dollars to

          3  do that.  And I thank you for your leadership in

          4  moving these bills forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          6  Thank you, Andy.

          7                 Yolande Cadore?  Am I saying that

          8  right?  Okay. Please speak nice and close to the

          9  mic.

         10                 MS. CADORE: My name is Yolande Cadore

         11  and I am the Director of Community Organizing for

         12  West Harlem Environmental Action, WE ACT.

         13                 I am here today to express my strong

         14  support for the set of proposed bills, Intro 414

         15  through 417 and Intro 428 and to add a few

         16  recommendations.  Specifically, I would like to

         17  encourage the council to both require the use of

         18  ultra low sulfur fuel in school buses, and

         19  prioritized contractors with fleets, that maximize

         20  the reduction in particulate matter and nitrogen

         21  oxides.

         22                 Diesel exhaust has long been a

         23  problem air pollutant in New York City.  As a

         24  significant local contributor to fine particulate

         25  matter in ozone, diesel sources pose a significant
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          2  challenge for the City of New York whose air

          3  quality, even 30 years after the passage of the

          4  Clean Air Act, remain less than ideal.  In addition

          5  to contributing to lung cancer and early mortality

          6  from cardiovascular disease in the long run, in the

          7  short run, diesel exhaust exacerbates asthma, which

          8  is especially a problem for communities of color.

          9  Communities of color in New York have become the

         10  highest, have some of the highest asthma rates in

         11  the nation. East Harlem and the South Bronx, have

         12  long led the country with the highest rates of

         13  childhood asthma hospitalization, roughly five times

         14  the national average.  Recent findings indicate that

         15  a staggering one in four children in Central Harlem

         16  suffer from asthma, three times the national

         17  average.  Communities of color throughout New York

         18  City are home to a disproportionate burden of diesel

         19  exhaust sources, such as highways, bus and truck

         20  depots, construction sites, and warehouses, and

         21  loading facilities.  Diesel exhaust sources pose a

         22  serious danger to public health in our communities.

         23  With six out of seven MTA bus depots, and multiple

         24  sanitation truck parking lots, are located less than

         25  a few feet from windows of people's homes.
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          2                 I am here today to express my strong

          3  support for this bill, and to encourage the council

          4  to take further steps to improve the excellent

          5  health and environmental requirements set forth in

          6  these bills.  I start by emphasizing my support for

          7  maintaining and enforcing effective start dates and

          8  rapid phasing periods, for the reduction in carbon

          9  monoxide, particulate matter, and nitrogen oxide.

         10                 From a public health perspective, I

         11  cannot over emphasize the importance of having a

         12  rapid start date and phase in period, for the

         13  requirements of these bills.

         14                 Finally, the contract award processes

         15  for the City agencies defined under these bills,

         16  should give preference to fleets that utilize

         17  vehicles with the lowest emissions of particulate

         18  matter and nitrogen oxide.

         19                 In closing, I will reiterate that WE

         20  ACT strongly supports the City Council in your

         21  efforts to make New York City a national model for

         22  cleaning out the fuel and emissions from vehicles

         23  through Intro 414 through 417 and Intro 428.  And we

         24  urge you to vote on this bill as soon as possible.

         25  We urge the council to maintain the rapid phasing
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          2  period of these bills requirement throughout New

          3  York City.  We also urge the council to add language

          4  to these bills that require all school buses to use

          5  ultra low sulfur fuel, prioritized contractors with

          6  fleets that achieve the greatest reduction in

          7  emissions, and to pursue other mechanisms for

          8  bringing New York City into line with excellent

          9  health and environmental requirements set forth in

         10  this bill.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         12  Thank you.  Antonia Bryson.  Hi Antonia.

         13                 MS. BRYSON: Hi.  Good afternoon,

         14  honorable Chair and members of the committee.  My

         15  name is Antonia Bryson and I am pleased to be here

         16  to testify on behalf of INFORM, the National

         17  Environmental Research Organization in support of

         18  this legislation that promises to reduce

         19  transportation related pollution, and have a

         20  positive impact on the health of every community and

         21  citizen in the City.

         22                 I am here to express INFORM'S

         23  strongest support for the mandate in Intro 414, that

         24  would greatly expand the use of natural gas powered

         25  refuse and recycling trucks.  This breaks new ground
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          2  by not only giving millions of New Yorkers healthier

          3  air to breathe, but also in improving the quality of

          4  life in communities by reducing garbage truck noise,

          5  decreasing reliance on one of the City's most

          6  essential, decreasing vehicle reliance on one of the

          7  City's most essential public services on ever more

          8  precarious supplies of foreign oil.  In addition,

          9  you will see in my written testimony that we are

         10  suggesting additions to Intro 414 and 416, that

         11  would promote the use of natural gas powered

         12  vehicles in other City and private fleets.

         13                 As leading experts in refuse truck

         14  technology, INFORM's research suggests that the

         15  natural gas vehicle industry has developed

         16  significantly since the Department of Sanitation's

         17  pioneering adoption of the early models more than a

         18  decade ago. This new mandate will allow the

         19  Department to continue to be a national leader in

         20  taking advantage of the increasingly sophisticated

         21  natural gas vehicle- related technologies, and will

         22  give the natural gas vehicle industry, an assurance

         23  that the market for these technologies will be

         24  there.

         25                 Finally, all of this can be
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          2  accomplished at affordable cost.  I will briefly

          3  comment further on these points. Natural gas is

          4  certainly a cleaner alternative.  We know that it

          5  can beat diesel as it is now tested in terms of Nox

          6  emissions, that there is a one full gram difference

          7  between the latest certification of Nox engines and

          8  diesel engines, and we also know that the technology

          9  used to deal with particulate matter for diesels, is

         10  subject to deterioration and aging, which the CNG

         11  technology is not.  INFORM has done some

         12  calculations which show that during just the first

         13  year of the new mandate, Nox emissions would be

         14  reduced by 120 tons, and PM emissions by almost as

         15  much, and of course toxic pollutants would be

         16  virtually eliminated by natural gas.

         17                 A second important factor is that New

         18  York should not miss out on this continuing

         19  opportunity to be a technology leader with the next

         20  generation of natural gas and advanced technology

         21  vehicles.  We deserve to be on the path with other

         22  world class cities in using the best technology that

         23  can help create a sustainable future.  The City of

         24  Los Angeles has a fleet of nearly 2,000 natural gas

         25  powered transit buses, more than any other city in
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          2  the U.S., and recently made a commitment to purchase

          3  200 high tech, extra long, ultra low emission, CNG

          4  buses for use in the bus rapid transit system.

          5  There are three cities in China with more than 2,000

          6  CNG buses each.  The City of New Delhi India has

          7  9,000 CNG buses on the road.  The use of natural gas

          8  powered refuse trucks, which utilize many of the

          9  same engines and other advances demonstrated in the

         10  transit bus chapter, is also increasing rapidly.

         11                 In addition, the number of engine and

         12  chassis manufacturers in the business has been

         13  growing, and more vehicle and engine offerings are

         14  expected in 2006 and beyond, giving the Department

         15  of Sanitation a greater variety of choices.  Major

         16  advances have also been made in durability and

         17  reliability, and I believe you will get more

         18  testimony on this from the manufacturers at a later

         19  panel.  Thank you for this opportunity to testify.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         21  Thank you all. Thank you for your great work in DEP,

         22  as well. I know you have had a long and great career

         23  in being a champion for the environment and wearing

         24  different hats along the way.  So, thank you, thank

         25  you for that.
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          2                 And thank you to you all.  I mean you

          3  have been working so hard with the staff to get this

          4  done in the best way possible, and we are very, very

          5  grateful for your excellent service.  Thank you,

          6  thank you.

          7                 And we are joined by Council Member

          8  DeBlasio, the power forward of the Environmental

          9  Protection Committee.

         10                 Next witness is David Biderman.  And

         11  if the general contractors are in the room, they

         12  would be part of this panel, as well.  David, thank

         13  you for a --

         14                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         15  raise your right hand.  In the testimony that you

         16  are about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         17  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         18  truth?

         19                 MR. BIDERMAN: I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: David, thank you

         22  for being here.  I know you have been working very

         23  close with the staff.  We appreciate that very much,

         24  and thank you for coming here and giving us the

         25  benefit of your views.  Oh, you have to push the
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          2  button.

          3                 MR. BIDERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman.  Good afternoon.  My name is David

          5  Biderman and I am the General Counsel of the

          6  National Solid Waste Management's Association,

          7  NSWMA.

          8                 NSWMA is the National Trade

          9  Association for private companies involved in the

         10  collection, processing and disposal of solid waste.

         11  Our member companies include dozens of carters and

         12  many companies that own and operate transfer

         13  stations in New York City.

         14                 NSWMA and its members support the

         15  goal of reducing emissions from vehicles that manage

         16  the City solid waste and recyclables, and improving

         17  air quality and the environment.  NSWMA appreciates

         18  the opportunity to testify here today in support of

         19  Intro 416- A, and the council's acknowledgment in

         20  addressing some of our concerns in the original

         21  proposed bill.

         22                 However, we do remain concerned that

         23  ultra low sulfur diesel may not be widely available

         24  during the next 18 months in advance of the Federal

         25  requirement, that it become commercially available.
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          2  And we hope that the Department of Environmental

          3  Protection will properly issue written

          4  determinations, if ULSD is not readily available.

          5  The mere existence of one or two ULSD filling

          6  stations in New York City, or the presence of one or

          7  two companies that promise to provide that fuel,

          8  does not necessarily mean that ULSD is readily

          9  available to meet the needs of contractors.  In

         10  particular, NSWMA is concerned that some of its

         11  vendors will be forced to travel great distances to

         12  obtain ultra low sulfur diesel, or they will be

         13  forced to buy from a single vendor, and forced to

         14  pay whatever that vendor charges.  To avoid

         15  contamination, ULSD must be transported in dedicated

         16  pipes and vehicles that exclusively handle ultra low

         17  sulfur diesel.  This requires those vendors to

         18  purchase such vehicles, and make a significant

         19  investment in an ultra low sulfur diesel

         20  infrastructure.  Also, in advance of the Federal

         21  requirement, refineries may not have a large supply

         22  of this fuel.

         23                 We are also concerned that under

         24  Intro 416- A, the DEP is prohibited from issuing

         25  written determinations concerning the availability
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          2  of ultra low sulfur diesel after September 1, 2006.

          3  There is no guarantee that ULSD will be available by

          4  then. And NSWMA will prefer that DEP have the option

          5  to issue such determinations.  Allowing that type of

          6  regulatory flexibility, would benefit NSWMA's

          7  members and the City, and avoid the possibility that

          8  the daily management of City trash or transfer

          9  stations, might be interrupted.

         10                 We do recommend that, as stated at

         11  the beginning, that a definition be added to more

         12  explicitly define when a vehicle operates primarily

         13  in New York City, and we look forward to working

         14  with staff on crafting that.

         15                 Again, we thank you for the

         16  opportunity to provide the testimony, and if you

         17  have any questions, I would be glad to try to answer

         18  them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         20  David.  I know that the staff has been working with

         21  you, particularly with regard to the long haul

         22  carriers, and we greatly appreciate your help, and

         23  in getting some point where we are doing a lot

         24  better on that, and we appreciate your help.  And

         25  thank you for the opportunity to be here today.
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          2  Appreciate it.

          3                 MR. BIDERMAN: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Steven Levy of

          5  Sprague Energy. Steve thank you, thanks for being

          6  here.  Donna will give the oath.

          7                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

          8  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

          9  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         10  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. LEVY: Yes, I do.

         12                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, Steve, how

         14  is the ultra low sulfur diesel business?

         15                 MR. LEVY: It could be better.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  We can

         17  hope.  Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Mr.

         19  Chairman, is this how you start like cocktail party

         20  dialog and conversation?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I was

         22  wondering when the drinks were going to -- oh,

         23  forget it.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. LEVY: Well, thank you for having

         25  me.  Rather than read my comments due to time
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          2  considerations, I am just going to pick out a few

          3  key points that were earlier raised today and in the

          4  past, regarding ultra low sulfur diesel fuel supply.

          5                 As you know, I am Steven Levy.  I am

          6  Managing Director of Business Development for

          7  Sprague Energy.  Sprague operates from basically the

          8  Mid- Atlantic States up to Maine. Sprague is the

          9  largest supplier of diesel fuel in the New York

         10  Metropolitan area, both regular diesel fuels, as

         11  well as ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

         12                 We started delivering ultra low

         13  sulfur diesel fuel back in, really of December of

         14  1998, but began with huge quantities, going back to

         15  January of 2000.  Back in January of 2000, a comment

         16  was made at that time by the MTA New York City

         17  Transit Authority, that they needed to be basically

         18  convinced that there would be enough sulfur

         19  reductions back, you know, below 30 parts per

         20  million, but most importantly, have enough quantity

         21  of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

         22                 Since that time, no New York City

         23  transit bus or depot, has been without ultra low

         24  sulfur diesel fuel supply.  And I might add, that

         25  the MTA New York City Transit is the largest user of
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          2  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel in the country.

          3                 As we sat in this chamber, back in

          4  September of 2003, discussing Local Law 77, there

          5  was also a concern about supplying ultra low sulfur

          6  diesel fuel to the construction industry.  I might

          7  add, since that program has been enacted, there has

          8  not been any suppliers use with ultra low sulfur

          9  diesel fuel, and many other suppliers that cater to

         10  that industry, continue to supply the

         11  infrastructure.

         12                 And since 2000, many City agencies,

         13  such as Department of Sanitation, as was mentioned

         14  today, and since then Parks, NYPD, Department of

         15  Transportation, has migrated to the use of ultra low

         16  sulfur diesel fuel.  Again, with the seamless

         17  transition to the product.

         18                 Relating to the new bills that are on

         19  the table, again, the issue has come up, will there

         20  be enough supply of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel?

         21  Well, I cannot speak for the rest of the country,

         22  but I can speak about New York City and the Metro

         23  area, and really the Northeast.  Where Sprague is

         24  concerned, and there is ample supply from our

         25  standpoint to meet the City needs of ultra low
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          2  sulfur diesel fuel.  What I might recommend in the

          3  near term, however, as ultra low sulfur is being

          4  distributed today, to be geared to centrally fueled

          5  fleets, and Mobil refueled fleets, and fleets that

          6  have their own truck tank wagon to pick up the rack

          7  to use the fuel.  As far as retail availability, we

          8  have spoken to many of the larger brand of chains

          9  that basically distribute and supply ultra low

         10  sulfur diesel fuel.  And as it stands now, they have

         11  assured that it will be widely available in the New

         12  York area at the retail level come September of

         13  2006, and probably a long time before that, so they

         14  clean out the distribution system, as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, Steve. I appreciate your dedication to

         17  ultra low sulfur diesel, and clearly that is the way

         18  of the future here, and thanks for your testimony.

         19  Appreciate your being here today.

         20                 MR. LEVY: Thank you.  I also had one

         21  other comment. As I wanted to be sure of some of the

         22  prices that I have received, in the comments by the

         23  Department of Education.  They suggested that the

         24  price differential is 15 to 30 cents, in looking at

         25  some of the differentials that we are looking at, it
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          2  is more towards around 15 cents per gallon

          3  cumulatively over the period of the time that they

          4  use the product.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          6  Thank you, Steve.

          7                 Mr. Hernando Castro of Taxi Tours

          8  Incorporated.  Mr. Castro, thank you for being here.

          9    Donna will give the oath and then you can proceed

         10  with your testimony.

         11                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         12  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         13  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         14  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         15                 MR. CASTRO: To the best of my

         16  ability, yes, sure.

         17                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         18                 MR. CASTRO: Good afternoon, my name

         19  is Hernando Castro.  I am the owner of a small sight

         20  seeing company called Taxi Tours.  I run a double

         21  decker business.  I have one bus in operation.  I am

         22  one of two companies that do sight seeing here in

         23  New York City.  My competitors have something like

         24  50 buses or something, okay, so.

         25                 I want to divide my comments into two
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          2  sections.  One of them is a previous law that was

          3  passed in this chamber, and the proposed law now

          4  that is in here.

          5                 There was a previous law that was

          6  passed with the intention of putting newer vehicles,

          7  not newer, cleaner vehicles for the sight seeing

          8  business, and the intention was to, I guess, clean

          9  the atmosphere.  The previous law which was proposed

         10  813- A of 2000, I think, or 2001, to my company

         11  which is a small business, a very small business,

         12  and it was to resolve a fight between the City of

         13  New York and a company called Apple Tours.  And with

         14  that fight between the City of New York and Apple

         15  Tours, the law was passed to not permit any of these

         16  older vehicles to pass, to continue working here in

         17  the City of New York, to continue operating.  That

         18  law put four companies out of business, including

         19  mine.  I then had only one business, I had nothing

         20  to do with Apple Tours then.  I kept a clean

         21  operation within my means, okay.

         22                 From what I have heard here, the

         23  reduction of emissions has not changed in ten years,

         24  okay?  And that includes Apple Tours and the new

         25  business that I have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I think you

          3  should focus on the new bill, you have a limited

          4  amount of time.

          5                 MR. CASTRO: Sure, I will try to be as

          6  fast as I can. That previous law also created a

          7  monopoly in the sight seeing business.  For me as a

          8  small businessman, cannot compete with, okay?  So

          9  that is it.

         10                 There were promises then that I could

         11  retrofit my vehicles with clean engines, so I

         12  applied to the Alternative Skill Program, so that I

         13  can convert my vehicle to a CNG engine.  And after a

         14  year of research trying to do the best that I could,

         15  and trying to get funds from wherever I could, the

         16  application was denied, because the vehicle had to

         17  be less than three years old, and less than 50,000

         18  miles old, for which my vehicles were not, okay?

         19  There was no public access at the fueling facilities

         20  anywhere in the City of New York for private

         21  vehicles, such as myself.

         22                 I made some calculations as to what

         23  has happened since the old vehicles were put out of

         24  service.  My older buses were light buses, they

         25  seated 72 passengers.  They were powered by an
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          2  engine which was 150 horsepower, and they weighed

          3  22,000 pounds. And they used eight gallons of fuel

          4  per day.  Those buses were forced out of service.  I

          5  was forced now to buy newer buses, and I will try to

          6  finish as fast as I can.  My newer buses seat 72

          7  passengers, which is the same as the old one  It is

          8  powered by a 300 horsepower engine.  It weighs

          9  54,000 pounds and it spends 30 gallons of fuel a

         10  day, which is four times this much, okay.  And I am

         11  within compliance with the regulations, okay.  My

         12  calculations say that on a 20 year life, the older

         13  vehicle would spend around 48,000 gallons of diesel

         14  fuel into the air, and the newer vehicle which is

         15  incompliance, puts around 36,000, I am sorry,

         16  180,000 gallons of fuel into the air, which is a

         17  ratio of 1 to .75.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I am going to

         19  have to ask you to summarize.  You are over the time

         20  already.

         21                 MR. CASTRO: Okay.  Yes.  It is my

         22  understanding that for every gallon of fuel that I

         23  put inside this engine, a gallon of fuel, a gallon

         24  of fumes go out, okay, and to me putting a

         25  retrofitting this engine with a particular, a
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          2  reducer, is only a band aid solution.  And the fact

          3  is that my older vehicles consumed at least almost

          4  four times as less fuel as the newer vehicles.

          5                 Any questions you have I will be glad

          6  to answer.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, I thank you

          8  for your compelling testimony and you know, the

          9  logical way that you laid it out here in the chart.

         10  If you have not already been talking to the staff of

         11  the committee, I recommend that you do so.  And I

         12  thank you for coming forward and representing the

         13  industry on this matter, and I appreciate having

         14  this information.

         15                 MR. CASTRO: Sure, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Castro.

         18                 The next witness is Dawn Friest, I

         19  hope I am saying that right, Dawn Friest of the

         20  Engine Manufacturers Association.

         21                 Greetings, thank you.  Thank you for

         22  being here. Did you come from Chicago today?  Did

         23  you come in from Chicago?

         24                 MS. FRIEST: I came actually from

         25  Canada via Detroit, but I work for EMA, which is
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          2  located in Chicago.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          4                 MS. FRIEST: And that does not count

          5  against my time, right?  That whole --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, no, no it

          7  does not.  We have not started the clock yet.  I

          8  just -- thank you for coming such a long distance to

          9  be with us today.  Donna will give the oath, and

         10  then you can proceed with your statement.

         11                 MS. FRIEST: Thank you.

         12                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         13  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         14  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the whole

         15  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MS. FRIEST: Yes, I do.

         17                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

         18                 MS. FRIEST: Good afternoon.  My name

         19  is Dawn Friest and I am here representing the Engine

         20  Manufacturers Association. EMA is the trade

         21  association representing the major manufacturers of

         22  the internal combustion engines, including diesel

         23  fueled compression ignition engines that power on

         24  highway and on road vehicles and equipment, that

         25  would be subject to the requirements of the proposed
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          2  ordinance under consideration today.

          3                 EMA submitted written comments on

          4  earlier versions of the proposed ordinances, and as

          5  we stated in those comments, we support the

          6  council's efforts to seek improvements in air

          7  quality. My comments today are going to focus on the

          8  pre- emption issues which we raised earlier.  And we

          9  believe that any adopted program should be cost

         10  efficient and flexible, and that it must adhere to

         11  the legal and regulatory framework that governs the

         12  control of emissions from mobil sources.  Proposed

         13  ordinances 417 and 428, still have some issues with

         14  respect to the pre- emption of provisions of the

         15  Clean Air Act.  417 and 428 seek to impose standards

         16  and controls on new motor vehicles and engines, but

         17  the regulation of emissions from mobil sources,

         18  including on highway non road and equipment, is

         19  limited under the Federal Clean Air Act to the U.S.

         20  EPA, and under certain limited circumstances, the

         21  State of California.  State and local governments

         22  such as New York City, are preempted from developing

         23  emission standards or applying other emission

         24  control requirements to mobil sources under section

         25  209A of the Clean Air Act.
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          2                 In a very recent decision, the United

          3  States Supreme Court addressed similar emission

          4  control rules adopted by the South Coast Air Quality

          5  Management District.  And without going into too

          6  much detail, EMA challenged the rules and argued

          7  that they violated the Federal preemption provisions

          8  of the Act by restricting a purchasers choice of

          9  vehicles and prohibiting the purchase of vehicles

         10  that otherwise met all Federal and California

         11  emissions regulations.  I have a copy of that, I

         12  just need a single line and you can keep it.

         13                 In its decision, the Supreme Court

         14  found that local emission control regulations or

         15  ordinances enacted by a State or locality that

         16  impose restrictions on vehicle purchases, constitute

         17  preempted standards, as defined by the Act.  And the

         18  proposed ordinances 417 and 428, impose requirements

         19  and restrictions which are essentially the same as

         20  the requirements reviewed by the court, and found to

         21  be preempted.

         22                 The fact that the proposed

         23  requirements would apply to engines that are at

         24  least one year old, that is one of the changes that

         25  has been made.  That does not spare them from the
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          2  preemption provisions of the Clean Air Act, because

          3  in the context of heavy duty engines and vehicles,

          4  an engine is considered to be new, until the time of

          5  first, the engine is first rebuilt.

          6                 Clearly, some reasonable period of

          7  time must pass before an engine is no longer

          8  considered to be new, and I think it is reasonable

          9  to assume that an engine only one year into its

         10  life, is new, and therefore protected by the

         11  preemption provisions of the Clean Air Act.  Nothing

         12  in the decision, or in the Clean Air Act, prevents

         13  the City from specifying requirements related to the

         14  purchase of City vehicles and emissions from those

         15  vehicles, for the City's own use, or as a

         16  procurement requirement as part of a City contract.

         17  We applaud those efforts with respect to those

         18  provisions that are not preempted, the financial

         19  commitment that the City is making to improve the

         20  emissions profiles of these vehicles, should be

         21  applauded.

         22                 We do have some concerns regarding

         23  some of those provisions related to those vehicles

         24  in that date, may unnecessarily restrict the City's

         25  options to purchase the cleanest and best suited
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          2  vehicles and equipment, by mandating the purchase of

          3  an arbitrary percentage of alt- fueled vehicles, and

          4  mandates to purchase alt- fueled vehicles are not

          5  necessary to achieve emissions reductions.

          6                 So we encourage the City to look at

          7  more flexibility to develop emission reduction

          8  goals, that would allow a variety of options to be

          9  utilized fuel and technology neutral options,

         10  including vehicle and equipment replacement, re-

         11  power, or retrofitting, in the most effective

         12  manner.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  speak to you today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         16  Thank you.  I am just going to take a second to

         17  consult with Counsel on the preemption issue that

         18  you raise in your statement.

         19                 We have gotten support on the

         20  legislation from the EPA that actually issued a

         21  letter of support.  It is my understanding from

         22  Counsel that there is a paragraph in the EPA letter

         23  of support, that deals with the preemption issue,

         24  and just for the sake of putting it on the record, I

         25  am going to have the Counsel to the Committee, you
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          2  know, Donna De Costanzo, read that into the record,

          3  and we will be happy to provide you with the letter

          4  of support we got from the EPA.  Okay?

          5                 MS. FRIEST: That would be great.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So Donna will

          7  read that into the record, and then we can make the

          8  letter available to you, okay?

          9                 It will be the last paragraph on the

         10  first page, is that right?  Okay.

         11                 MS. DE COSTANZO: At the previous

         12  hearing on the City's diesel emission reduction

         13  bills, EPA expressed some concerns regarding certain

         14  bill requirements that would be preempted by the

         15  Federal Clean Air Act.  We are pleased to see that

         16  City Council has taken action to revise these bills

         17  to remove potential conflicts with the Clean Air

         18  Act.  Specifically, City Council revised bills 414,

         19  417 and 428 so that they no longer include highway

         20  fuel requirements for non City- owned fleets, nor

         21  there are retrofit requirements for new non City-

         22  owned vehicles.  We believe these revisions address

         23  EPA's previously stated preemption concerns.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So I guess it is

         25  just a matter of who is right, I guess.
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          2                 MS. FRIEST: I guess so.  It can

          3  address EPA's concerns, but it does not address

          4  EMA's concerns, so we may have to agree or disagree.

          5                 MS. GENNARO: We will just disagree,

          6  but thank you very much for your testimony, and we

          7  will keep in contact as we proceed.

          8                 MS. FRIEST: Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank you

         10  for being here.

         11                 Okay, the next panel.  Peter

         12  Iwanowicz, Peter Iwanowicz of the American Lung

         13  Association, Rob Muldoon of the New York City Sierra

         14  Club, Jason Babbie, NYPIRG, and Peter Slocum of The

         15  American Cancer Society.  Thank you gentlemen for

         16  being here. Donna is ready to kind of put you under,

         17  so to speak.

         18                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         19  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         20  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         21  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. IWANOWICZ: I do.

         23                 MR. MULDOON: I do.

         24                 MR. BABBIE: I do.

         25                 MR. SLOCUM: I do.
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          2                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank you

          4  all for being here.  I appreciate the work that you

          5  have given the committee thus far.  I know the staff

          6  has been working with some of you folks and we

          7  appreciate it.  So, in whichever order you wish, you

          8  can state your names for the record and proceed with

          9  your statements.  Let us start with you.

         10                 MR. IWANOWICZ: Great. Good afternoon.

         11    I am Peter Iwanowicz.  I am the Vice President

         12  Chief Policy officer with the American Lung

         13  Association of New York State.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Hold on, let me

         15  just -- oh go ahead, we will just figure out how to

         16  start the clock.  Go ahead.             And we are

         17  joined by Council Member Robert Jackson.

         18                 MR. IWANOWICZ: It is my pleasure to

         19  be here today to represent the views of my

         20  colleagues, The American Lung Association of the

         21  City of New York, and thank you again for the

         22  opportunity to speak.

         23                 I will not read my entire written

         24  testimony, I will try to get it under the three

         25  minute limit.  But in highlights, and I think it is
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          2  important to backdrop why we are here today.

          3  Obviously, there is a big public health threat

          4  associated with air pollution.  In short, that air,

          5  cuts short, people's lives, and makes them sick.  It

          6  is linked to lung cancer, respiratory disease, it

          7  triggers asthma attacks, and it also has a big role

          8  in cardiovascular diseases as well.

          9                 In April 2004, just about a year ago,

         10  the United States Environmental Protection Agency

         11  classified New York City as out of attainment for

         12  ozone, a serious pollutant of which all the pre-

         13  cursers are addressed by this legislation where you

         14  are rationing down tail pipe emissions.

         15                 In December of 2004, USEPA declared

         16  New York City to be part of the non attainment area

         17  for PM 2.5.  That pollutant is extremely serious,

         18  because that is the pollutant that is linked to

         19  premature death, linked to things like lung cancer,

         20  which you will hear more about, heart attacks.  In

         21  all of the bills, deal with, not only ozone, but

         22  fine particle pre cursers.

         23                 Drilling a little bit deeper, if you

         24  look at diesel, diesel exhaust particles represent a

         25  clear health threat to New Yorkers.  In a ground
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          2  breaking report released in February, and I will

          3  leave copies with staff, it was reported that New

          4  York State ranked number one in the health impact

          5  associated with diesel exhaust.  If you look at New

          6  York City, it leaves the nation in total death,

          7  cancer deaths, and heart attacks associated with

          8  diesel emissions.  New York City led the nation in

          9  per capita heart attacks, with 40 per 100,000, and

         10  premature deaths, at 25 per 100,000.  Unlike many

         11  areas of the country, the health impacts associated

         12  with diesel, are even greater than those associated

         13  with power plants.  Often you hear a lot about power

         14  plants.

         15                 In short, the Lung Association is

         16  really supportive of the five bills under

         17  consideration.  We wanted to make some

         18  recommendations for amendments however to a couple

         19  of them.

         20                 Intro 428, and I know that Rich

         21  Kassel with NRDC, touched on this.  We strongly

         22  recommend you look at retirement of old school

         23  buses.  Anything that is over 12 years of age, is

         24  probably not going to be good for retrofitting.  It

         25  really is too old, and should be retired.  The
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          2  school district where my kids go to school outside

          3  of Albany, New York, the oldest bus in that fleet is

          4  seven.  We have data to suggest that more than 50

          5  percent of the fleet in some instances in New York

          6  City, is older than 1995.  So we think that should

          7  be an amendment that should be built in.

          8                 Also for engine controls, look at the

          9  whole issue of controlling crank case emission

         10  controls.  Because some of the particulate matter

         11  that is getting into the bus, indeed, some suggest

         12  it is a large portion of what is getting in the bus,

         13  actually comes form the crank case.  So when you are

         14  considering technologies for control of emissions,

         15  think about what comes off the engine, as well.

         16                 So to sum things up, you know, we are

         17  highly supportive of the package.  We think there

         18  are some amendments we can work on with staff to

         19  improve upon them a lot better, and we also would

         20  love to talk to you about other dis lit fuels in

         21  terms of the sulfur and those fuels that can achieve

         22  a similar reduction as diesel emission controls can,

         23  as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         25  Thank you very much.
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          2  Bob.

          3                 MR. MULDOON: Thank you.  Good

          4  afternoon.  My name is Bob Muldoon, an Associate

          5  Regional Representative with the National Sierra

          6  Club field office in New York City.  I am speaking

          7  on behalf of the New York City Group, the Sierra

          8  Club is one of the oldest and largest grassroots

          9  environmental organizations in the country, with

         10  over 750,000 members nationwide, and over 15,000

         11  members in New York City.

         12                 We applaud the City Council for

         13  moving ahead with this package of bills, to require

         14  cleaner vehicles be used by City owned and City-

         15  regulated fleets.  As we stated last Fall, we

         16  urgently need this legislation to address the

         17  problems of global warming and health issues related

         18  to New York City air quality.

         19                 We see great opportunity to move the

         20  City's vehicle fleet to clean energy efficient

         21  vehicles, that meet SULEV standards or higher, and

         22  achieve 30 miles per gallon or greater, in City

         23  driving.  Currently the City owns, as I heard today

         24  to update it, over 800 Toyota Prius cars, a hybrid

         25  electric vehicle that has an EPA rating of 60 miles

                                                            82

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  per gallon in city driving.  Hybrid technology which

          3  combines the gas and electric engine, offer

          4  significant benefits of emission reductions, cost

          5  savings, noise reduction and lowering our dependance

          6  on foreign oil.  These are mainstream vehicles that

          7  do not require special servicing, plug in or

          8  infrastructure.  Even in the case of diesel powered

          9  vehicles, we are seeing a promising developments in

         10  the use of hybrid technology with ultra low sulfur

         11  diesel fuel, and best available control technology.

         12                 Although we support the move to fuel

         13  economy standards in the main bill, Intro 414- A, we

         14  would like to see a reporting requirement for CO2

         15  emissions, in order to measure the progress of the

         16  fuel economy program.  We also recommend that the

         17  bills require the Mayors Management Report to break

         18  down fleet data.

         19                 We strongly support the effort to

         20  introduce alternative fuel vehicles in sanitation

         21  fleets and City buses.  We hope that the Department

         22  of Sanitation will quickly move forward with efforts

         23  to develop alternative fuel sanitation trucks,

         24  including compressed natural gas vehicles, and

         25  hybrid electric diesel.
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          2                 We would like to see a final target

          3  for purchase of alternative fuel vehicles, increase

          4  to 100 percent, at some point in the future.

          5                 Finally, with regard to the phase in

          6  of control technologies for heavy duty vehicles, we

          7  appreciate the need for some phase in schedule, but

          8  we hope that the council will keep aggressive phase

          9  in schedules in these bills, and closely monitor

         10  these phase ins, so that they do not become the

         11  means for delays for cleaning up trucks, buses,

         12  school buses and other heavy duty vehicles.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  comment on these bills.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Bob.

         16  Before Jason goes I just want to recognize that we

         17  are joined by Council Member Jennings from my

         18  neighboring district in Queens.  Council Member

         19  Jennings has been over at the budget hearings that

         20  we are having across the street, and a lot of groups

         21  are coming before us to testify today, so I would

         22  like to ask Allan to keep his eye out for the groups

         23  that are near and dear to both our districts, okay?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay.  Thank

         25  you, Mr. Chairman.  I am going to leave in a few
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          2  minutes because I want to go back.  We have one more

          3  hour of testimony.  We have over 150 people

          4  testifying, so as you know, we have been there since

          5  like 10:00 this morning.  So, thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          7  Thank you, Council Member Jennings.  And Jason.

          8                 MR. BABBIE: Good afternoon.  My name

          9  is Jason Babbie.  I am the Environmental Policy

         10  Analyst for the New York Public Interest Research

         11  Group, NYPIRG.  And my comments are going to be very

         12  brief because I am also losing my voice.

         13                 The New York Metropolitan area in

         14  2003, according to the report by Clear the Air,

         15  Danger in the Air, was ranked 4th among major

         16  Metropolitan Cities for bad particulate matters or

         17  soot problems.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Speak closer to

         19  the mic, so we can hear you better.

         20                 MR. BABBIE: It was ranked 4th out of

         21  major cities throughout the country for soot, and

         22  7th for smog.  Included in 2003, there are 21 days

         23  when EPA determined the air was unhealthy to

         24  breathe, and two, when it was very unhealthy to

         25  breathe.  This obviously is hurting our residents.
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          2  It hurts some more than others, children and the

          3  elderly, the most.  We have a serious air quality

          4  problem here.  We have a serious asthma quality

          5  problem in New York City.

          6                 We support all of the range of bills,

          7  and just wanted to talk about the need for New York

          8  City's government and New York City's fleet of

          9  diesel emissions to be cleaning up and start leading

         10  the nation.  New York City is a leader in the world

         11  of finance and in the world of culture, and we

         12  should be a leader in the clean diesel movement, as

         13  well.  And we also are very supportive of the

         14  reporting requirements to be able to monitor how the

         15  City is achieving these goals.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         17  Thank you, Jason.

         18  And Peter Slocum.

         19                 MR. SLOCUM: Thank you very much.  I

         20  would like to on behalf of the American Cancer

         21  Society, thank the City Council and your committee

         22  in particular, for taking the lead on this critical

         23  issue.  It is a matter of life and death to New

         24  Yorkers, particularly those living in neighborhoods

         25  which often are populated by people who do not have

                                                            86

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  health insurance, do not have access to health care

          3  in a ready fashion, and it is often times that our

          4  urban areas, pollution concentrates in those

          5  neighborhoods.  And I think that this is an example,

          6  it is a matter of great concern to the American

          7  Cancer, Society and it is an area where you can take

          8  a huge step by reducing this source of toxic

          9  pollution.

         10                 Diesel, high sulfur diesel, is a

         11  known cancer causing agent and there have been any

         12  number of studies which have confirmed it.  You and

         13  I talked about that a little bit last time when I

         14  was here in the Fall.   There was a huge study and

         15  ruling over a million people around the country,

         16  tens of thousands of them here in this Metropolitan

         17  area, which tracks people's life, habits,

         18  employment, smoking habits, so on and so forth, and

         19  looks at their cause of death, and it is clearly

         20  linked with high pollution cities, high soot

         21  pollution cities, with increased lung cancer rates.

         22  It is an area where you have the authority and the

         23  opportunity to make a huge difference in our

         24  citizens' lives, and we call on you, and urge you,

         25  to press forward and do that.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          3  Peter.  Thank you for the great work of the American

          4  Cancer Society, an organization that I have come to

          5  know better through very tragic circumstances in my

          6  own family, and I thank the American Cancer Society,

          7  not only for being there for me and my family, but

          8  all the good work that you do all the time.  And we

          9  will carry on, and do what is right here, as

         10  appropriate, and I thank all of you for your

         11  dedication to this issue in making the case that has

         12  to be made, so that we can get this done, and know

         13  that we did the right thing.  So thank you all very

         14  much.  Appreciate it.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Todd

         16  Wickersham, Dale McKinon, Timothy Johnson, and

         17  Urszula Miezio.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         19  Thank you all very much for being here today.  Donna

         20  De Costanzo will do the honors, and then you can

         21  proceed with your testimony.

         22                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         23  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         24  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MR. WICKERSHAM: I do.

          3                 MR. MCKINON: I do.

          4                 MR. JOHNSON: I do.

          5                 MS. MIEZIO: I do.

          6                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  I guess

          8  we could do ladies first.  How is that?  Is that

          9  okay?  Or, no, okay, Counsel to the Committee says

         10  that we should start with this end.  Sorry, so.  But

         11  I had like gentlemanly instincts, at least.  I just

         12  want to make sure that I have everyone's statement.

         13  Now which one is --

         14  Okay, Dale, right?

         15                 MR. MCKINON: Yes, that is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  You have

         17  to speak nice and close to the mic.

         18                 MR. MCKINON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         19    Good afternoon.  My name is Dale McKinon.  I am

         20  the Executive Director of the Manufacturers of

         21  Emission Controls Association, MECA.  MECA is

         22  pleased to provide testimony in support of the City

         23  Council and New York City Committees on

         24  Environmental Protection and Education, proposed

         25  legislative amendments, relating to the use of ultra
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          2  low sulfur diesel, and the best available

          3  technology, by the City's diesel fueled powered

          4  vehicles, in fulfillment of solid waste and

          5  recyclable material contracts, and by sight seeing

          6  buses, and for school bus transport.

          7                 I have written comments but I think I

          8  will just, for the sake of time, make some points.

          9                 By way of background, MECA is the

         10  non- profit association of the world's leading

         11  manufacturers of emission control technology.  Our

         12  members have over 30 years of experience in

         13  developing and applying emission control technology

         14  both on, on road, and non road vehicles.

         15                 First, I would like to make a few

         16  comments of the benefits of using ultra low sulfur

         17  diesel fuel.  I think first of all, you reduce your

         18  engine out PM emissions, and that is important.  You

         19  also increase the durability of engine components,

         20  but also of the technologies that our manufacturers

         21  make.  It also helps to enhance the performance,

         22  both on the PM control, Nox control, and toxic hydro

         23  carb control.

         24                 I would like to talk about the

         25  technologies that are available for the proposed
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          2  legislative amendments.  We have technologies our

          3  members make for PM control, Nox control, and

          4  combined systems.  These technologies also usually

          5  have a beneficial impact on toxic hydro carb

          6  emissions.

          7                 For PM control, we have diesel

          8  particulate filters. They provide greater than 90

          9  percent reduction in PM emissions. And if you use

         10  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel, it also reduces the

         11  number of fine particles, which is important.  They

         12  have been used on both retrofit and OE applications,

         13  it is over 200,000 on road heavy duty diesel

         14  vehicles world wide, equipped with retrofit

         15  technology, is more than a million passenger cars

         16  operating in Europe with the technology.  And there

         17  is elected heavy duty diesel engines both here in

         18  the U.S. and in Europe, that offer them as original

         19  equipment.

         20                 Diesel oxidation catalyst, you get a

         21  more modest read in action and PM emissions, about

         22  20 to 40 percent.  But you also get significant

         23  reductions in toxic emissions.  They have been both

         24  used in retrofit, and OE applications, about 35

         25  million passenger cars in Europe for example, and
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          2  also about 250 non road vehicles equipped.

          3                 For Nox control, we have a number of

          4  options.  We have selective catalytic reduction,

          5  EGR, Nox catalyst.  These have seen a little less

          6  introduction, but they do provide significant

          7  reduction in Nox emission control as well, they are

          8  typically used in combination with other

          9  technologies.  So you get both Nox and PM control at

         10  the same time.

         11                 In closing --

         12                      CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was going

         13  to say, if you could conclude, yes.

         14                 MR. MCKINON: -- We commend the City

         15  Council of New York, both the committees on

         16  Environmental Protection and Education for its

         17  leadership and proposing these important legislative

         18  amendments, that will provide significant health and

         19  welfare benefits in New York City.  And we look

         20  forward to working with you, as once the amendments

         21  are adopted.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  We

         23  look forward to working with you, too.  Thank you.

         24                 Todd Wickersham?  Okay.  Thanks for

         25  being here.
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          2                 MR. WICKERSHAM: Thank you.  My name

          3  is Tod Wickersham.  I have come up from Austin,

          4  Texas.  I grew up here in New York.  But I have been

          5  working down there.  Texas has about $6 hundred

          6  million dollars that they have dedicated toward

          7  diesel emissions reductions, and we have been doing

          8  everything from retrofitting, re-powering, replacing

          9  trucks, and off road equipment.

         10                 The reason I was here, I just wanted

         11  to add some support to this important legislation,

         12  particularly 415, 416, 417 and 428.  Because

         13  retrofit technologies are a very, very cost

         14  effective way of getting reductions.  I know that

         15  the main purpose of this program is toxic air

         16  emissions, and cost is a secondary issue.  But when

         17  you are looking at ways of getting full immediate

         18  reductions, retrofits are a strong way to do that.

         19  And there is now more retrofits that are also

         20  providing Nox reductions with the PM reductions.  So

         21  that is an added benefit.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But we do not --

         23                 MR. WICKERSHAM: Go ahead.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, no I am

         25  thinking, I was just --
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          2                 MR. WICKERSHAM: Okay.  The other

          3  thing is we also support the idea of buying the

          4  newer vehicles, the phase in period, because one of

          5  the best ways to reduce emissions both from Nox and

          6  PM, is to retire some of those older vehicles, and

          7  purchase some of the newer vehicles, the 2007

          8  requirements, that meet the 2007 requirements.

          9                 And one other sort of comment that we

         10  have seen in Texas and the experience that I have,

         11  is that if you are going to touch a vehicle once, in

         12  other words if you are going to retrofit it once to

         13  meet a requirement, sometimes you are going to want

         14  to, you sort of want to do as much as you can do at

         15  that time.  Because if you do it, you know, if you

         16  require somebody to do a regulation and say the EPA

         17  puts more pressure on to comply with ozone here in

         18  the area, and you have to do more Nox reductions,

         19  that is extra cost to the un-user to do it twice.

         20  So we would recommend that it would be much more

         21  efficient to get the reductions and do the retrofits

         22  but combined technology, at one time initially.

         23                 So, if you have any questions for me

         24  from what is going on in Texas or anything else,

         25  please let me know.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 Timothy Johnson.

          5                 MR. JOHNSON: Thank you very much.  My

          6  name is Tim Johnson.  I work for Corning

          7  Incorporated as Director Emerging Technologies and

          8  Regulations.  I am honored to be here today and to

          9  testify in front of this esteemed committee.

         10                 A little bit of background on my

         11  company I think is warranted.  We started 155 years

         12  ago here in Brooklyn, and have since moved up to

         13  Upstate New York.  We are a $4 billion dollar

         14  materials company.  We make catalytic converters,

         15  components for gasoline, alternative fuel vehicles,

         16  and diesel particulate filters for light duty and

         17  heavy duty diesel engines.  Corning was instrumental

         18  in introducing the New York City MTA to diesel

         19  particulate filters back in 1998.  It was my

         20  presentation along with the New York DEC, that

         21  actually introduced the technology to the New York

         22  City MTA, back at that time.  And of course, this

         23  has resulted in a very successful program, returning

         24  significant health benefits.  The MTA chose the

         25  right technology at that time.  The alternatives
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          2  were to ignore the emissions and live with the

          3  health effects, or go with compressed natural gas

          4  vehicles.  In choosing diesel particulate filters,

          5  the MTA made the most cost effective solution.  In

          6  fact, the EPA estimates that every dollar spent on

          7  diesel particulate filters, returns $13 dollars to

          8  society. Imagine that, a 13 to 1 cost benefit ratio.

          9                 Since the 1998 time frame or 2000

         10  time frame, when the filters were first introduced,

         11  much has changed.  First of all, there is over

         12  200,000 heavy duty vehicles with this technology.

         13  It is becoming well proven.

         14                 Second, you are not alone.  Tokyo

         15  mandates all diesels entering the City limits, be

         16  retrofit, or have modern engines.

         17                 Third, the technology has advanced

         18  quite significantly.  The filters that are on the

         19  New York City buses here, require temperatures as

         20  high as 270 degrees to regenerate the filter.

         21  Boston school buses are running today with filters

         22  that require only 200 degrees, a 70 degree drop in

         23  exhaust temperature. Furthermore, we have burner

         24  systems and other ways of heating filters, that make

         25  them applicable, widely applicable, to a wider range
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          2  of vehicles.

          3                 I would like to comment on Section

          4  4014, or 414- A on alternative fueled vehicles.  I

          5  am going to make a very profound statement.  Natural

          6  gas vehicles are obsolete.  Diesel vehicles today,

          7  even retrofit diesel vehicles, have smaller emission

          8  traces, or equivalent emission traces to natural gas

          9  vehicles, at a fraction of the price.  Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  Well

         12  you certainly got my attention with that last

         13  statement.  Not that you did not have my attention

         14  the whole time, but.

         15                 Urszula Miezio.  Urszula Miezio,

         16  right?

         17                 MS. MIEZIO: Yes, Sir.  Good

         18  afternoon.  How are you?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good to see you.

         20                 MS. MIEZIO: My name is Urszula

         21  Miezio.  I am a Business Development and Marketing

         22  Manager for Johnson Matthew Emission Control

         23  Technology.  We are an emission control technology

         24  and catalyst supplier.

         25                 Johnson Matthew fully supports the
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          2  goal of developing a non road, oh sorry, an on road

          3  retrofit program in New York City, significantly

          4  reduce particulate matter and oxides in nitrogen

          5  from New York City's inventory of existing diesel

          6  engines.

          7                 Johnson Matthew has actually been

          8  working with New York City transit for over five

          9  years, successfully retrofitting over 3,000 New York

         10  City buses.  We are currently working with the

         11  Department of Sanitation with several of our

         12  technologies, including simple DOC's, as well as

         13  CRT's, and our low temperature CCRT that Tim just

         14  mentioned.

         15                 One item that I would like to call to

         16  your attention, is the definition of best available

         17  technology.  As written, diesel oxidation catalyst

         18  alone, would not qualify as an approved Level One

         19  technology.  Several diesel oxidation catalysts are

         20  EPA approved.  But alone, they are only verified to

         21  20 percent, where CARB Level One is actually defined

         22  as a minimum of 25 percent.  For many engines,

         23  specifically the older more dirty engines, or those

         24  with very low temperature profiles, would have a

         25  very limited choice of verified DOC, after treatment
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          2  systems. Adjusting the reduction allowance, or

          3  allowing a diesel oxidation catalyst to be provided,

          4  to be installed, would avoid that.  It would also

          5  assure competitive pricing and allow a choice in

          6  suppliers.

          7                 Johnson Matthew will be happy to

          8  support the New York City Council and other

          9  interested parties in this process.  We commend you

         10  for your proactive initiative to reduce emissions

         11  from the City's diesel fleet for the benefit of all

         12  New Yorkers and the environment they live in.  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         15  Thank you all.  We appreciate your work in this

         16  area.  We could not do these bills without your

         17  technology, so thank you for helping the staff and

         18  being here and for making yourselves available as we

         19  continue to discuss these items.  I know you came a

         20  long way to be here, all of you, and we appreciate

         21  it very much, and we thank you for your statements.

         22                 And we are joined by Council Member

         23  David Yassky from Brooklyn.  Pleasure to have you

         24  here, David.

         25                 This is one panel?  Okay.  Next
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          2  panel, Mr. Andrew Littlefair of Clean Energy, John

          3  Rathbun of KeySpan Energy, David Lynch of Cummins

          4  Westport Inc., Gregory Hallahan of Hallahan Truck

          5  Sales, and Michael Hopper, I cannot make out the

          6  affiliation, Autocar.  This is the panel that was

          7  going to include Lou Riccio, if he is still here.

          8  Lou Riccio?  Okay.  Okay.  Well, I thought he was

          9  going to testify, but I guess he did not intend to,

         10  because he did not fill out a sheet.  Okay, but we

         11  have, looks like we have a great panel nonetheless.

         12  And so, the Counsel to the Committee will swear you

         13  in, then we can proceed with your testimony.

         14                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         15  raise your right hand.  In the testimony that you

         16  are about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         17  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         18  truth?

         19                 MR. LITTLEFAIR: I do.

         20                 MR. RATHBUN: I do.

         21                 MR. LYNCH: I do.

         22                 MR. HALLAHAN: I do.

         23                 MR. HOPPER: I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Gentlemen, thank
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          2  you all very much for being here and for your

          3  patience.  The hour is getting late and we do

          4  appreciate your being here.  And, okay, why do we

          5  not do Keyspan and then Clean Energy first.

          6                 MR. RATHBUN: Thank you Councilman

          7  Gennaro.  Good afternoon.  My name is John Rathbun.

          8  I manage Natural Gas Vehicle sales for KeySpan

          9  Energy.  And KeySpan, as you are aware, is one of

         10  the largest distributors of natural gas in the

         11  country and we have been committed to the

         12  development of the NGV market for some 20 years, and

         13  we also lead by example, virtually our entire fleet

         14  of vehicles, light duty vehicles, are fueled by

         15  clean natural gas.

         16                 I am not going to read my testimony

         17  and hold you to the time constraint.  I will

         18  summarize and hit the highlights.

         19                 I would like to begin by expressing

         20  our support for Intro Bill 414, and applaud this

         21  committee and City Council for updating the Clean

         22  Air laws.  And I also want to thank the committee

         23  for the opportunity to reinforce the testimony

         24  KeySpan has already provided on September 23rd, and

         25  that was submitted as part of the record.
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          2                 I will talk real briefly on some of

          3  the bi- fuel vehicles that the City currently

          4  exists.  Most of my comments will focus on the

          5  sanitation trucks.  But we think it is essentially a

          6  no brainer, that with some oversight, and some

          7  operational changes that the City's existing bi-

          8  fuel vehicles should be utilizing the alternative

          9  fuel source.

         10                 More importantly, KeySpan would like

         11  to see the Department of Sanitation incorporate

         12  significant numbers of CNG vehicles into their

         13  fleet.  And Intro Bill 414, we feel can be a

         14  catalyst for significant improvement on

         15  environmental policies, and the quality of the air

         16  in New York.

         17                 Local Law 6 was passed some 14 years

         18  ago, and at the time, it was cutting edge.  New York

         19  City had made big steps to improve air quality,

         20  reduced foreign dependance on alternative fuels.

         21  However, since that time, New York City has been

         22  eclipsed by other cities that have done more.

         23  Currently there are over 1300 waste haulers in the

         24  country doing this, and some cities that are being

         25  led, San Diego and Las Vegas, have over 400 vehicles
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          2  in those two cities alone.

          3                 New York City Department of

          4  Sanitation's fleet of over 2500 refuse trucks and

          5  recycling trucks, is 99 percent reliant on diesel

          6  fuel.  But waste haulers powered by clean compressed

          7  natural gas or a viable alternative and offer many

          8  environmental and energy security benefits over

          9  diesel technology.

         10                 KeySpan feels there are several

         11  compelling reasons to endorse the legislation.

         12  Natural gas trucks are the cleanest of all

         13  commercially available technologies.  Although clean

         14  diesel technology which uses ultra low sulfur diesel

         15  and the aftermarket treatment devices, has achieved

         16  emission reductions required by the EPA, the

         17  capability has not been extensively road tested, and

         18  is not guaranteed, and there are reports of

         19  significant failure rates on some of these

         20  technologies, and there are some doubts that the

         21  long term effect in these technologies.

         22                 The CNG engine technology available

         23  today not only meets the 2007, but also the 2010 EPA

         24  diesel emission standards.

         25                 The cost of natural gas is another
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          2  issue to consider.  Natural gas is historically

          3  cheaper than gasoline, and it is certainly cheaper

          4  than the ultra low sulfur, and the bio fuels.

          5                 Energy security is another major

          6  issue and its security is a high priority for our

          7  City and our country.  Today, about 90 percent of

          8  the natural gas consumed in the U.S., is from

          9  domestic sources, compared to 50 percent in oil.

         10  Here in New York City, it is even worse.  80 percent

         11  of the transportation fuel comes from foreign

         12  sources, and moreover, natural gas production does

         13  not have the pollution risks associated with it.

         14                 In closing, I would like to just say

         15  that KeySpan and many industry experts believe that

         16  there is no one single fuel source or technology

         17  that can meet today's and tomorrow's transportation

         18  needs.  It is therefore prudent to embrace and

         19  utilize various technologies, and if the New York

         20  City Department of Sanitation makes a significant

         21  commitment to CNG trucks, it will spur private

         22  sector investment in vehicles and infrastructure,

         23  and further in New York's environmental efforts.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 MR. LITTLEFAIR: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman and members of the committee.  My name is

          5  Andrew Littlefair.  I am President and CEO of Clean

          6  Energy.  We are the largest provider of natural gas

          7  as a vehicle transportation fuel in the United

          8  States, owning and operating come 160 natural gas

          9  fueling stations.  And I am here today to quickly

         10  share some of my experiences with fueling natural

         11  gas refuse fleets, and also helping South Coast Air

         12  Quality Managing District, as they implement a rule,

         13  as you know, in the South Coast, today we have

         14  almost 1350 natural gas refuse trucks on the road in

         15  California in about 40 some odd fleets.  My firm

         16  fuels about 500 of those daily, and they work

         17  beautifully and interestingly they do it at about

         18  $1.65 a diesel gallon, almost 70 cents less than

         19  diesel, but today in California.

         20                 But why does -- and I am hear to

         21  support obviously 414, why does 414 matter?  It

         22  matters, because as you heard today that New York

         23  still is a non attainment City, and this rule, I

         24  think effectively put in place, can reduce thousands

         25  of tons of Nox.  The asthma, as was mentioned
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          2  earlier, is a very important with these kinds of

          3  vehicles, the effect on asthma.  Traffic noise, you

          4  are going to hear more about that, I think, but

          5  these vehicles are substantially quieter, and your

          6  New York's over reliance on imported fuel.

          7                 Some quick facts, though, because I

          8  understand earlier some think that perhaps we are

          9  obsolete.  But in 2007, a natural gas engine will be

         10  six times cleaner than a diesel engine in terms of

         11  Nox.  So I do not think we are exactly ready to be

         12  written off.  At 50 percent as this rule discussed,

         13  over the life cycle of these vehicles, you would

         14  reduce 2800 tons of Nox over the life cycle.  So it

         15  is very, very meaningful.

         16                 Frankly, Mr. Chairman, I was somewhat

         17  surprised by some of the things that were mentioned

         18  earlier, and our company would like to respond to

         19  the committee to hopefully refute some of the things

         20  that we heard earlier today.

         21                 But let me just speak to

         22  infrastructure.  Our company has offered, and I know

         23  others would, be willing to build the infrastructure

         24  for sanitation fleet at our expense, and imbed that

         25  in the fuel cost, and still sell natural gas to the
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          2  sanitation cheaper than they would otherwise pay for

          3  diesel.  So I think it is a win- win, and I think we

          4  can have our cake and eat it too.

          5                 Finally, let me just shift gears and

          6  mention something that we did, and I thought you

          7  would be interested.  We forwarded it to the

          8  committee.  We did a poll of 400 statistical sample

          9  here in New York City of registered voters, and the

         10  poll indicates that there is overwhelming support

         11  for this kind of a rule.  81 percent of the voters

         12  supported the bill that would require half of new

         13  garbage trucks to run on natural gas.  The support

         14  increase is 84 percent, when they hear the good

         15  arguments, and then it moves back to 81 percent with

         16  some of the opposing arguments.  The majority of New

         17  Yorker voters think that air and noise pollution

         18  standards need to be strengthened, and less

         19  independence on foreign oil and health, are

         20  important reasons why they support this bill.

         21                 We look forward to working with you

         22  and we appreciate your leadership.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thanks for doing

         24  that homework for us.  We have smart voters in New

         25  York City, as evidenced by, how did I get here,
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          2  right?  Thank you.  Thank you.  Mr. Lynch, Mr.

          3  Lynch.

          4                 MR. LYNCH: Thank you for allowing a

          5  39 year industry veteran and Cummins Westport

          6  employee to make a few brief comments favoring the

          7  adoption of the proposed 414 legislation.

          8                 It is true in this great country of

          9  ours, that everyone is entitled to his or her

         10  opinion.  Unfortunately though, not everyone is

         11  entitled to his or her own set of facts.  With that

         12  in mind, let me comment on what is fact, and what we

         13  think about the proposed legislation.

         14                 The engine market is facing major

         15  changes that began in 2004, and really kick into

         16  high gear between 2007 and 2010, when the new low

         17  emission regulations come into effect.  There is a

         18  big difference in the emission from today's heavy

         19  duty engines.  2005 natural gas engines, are

         20  certified at approximately 50 percent lower NOX

         21  emissions, and one tenth of the particulate

         22  emissions of current EPA diesel standards.

         23                 In 2007, Cummins Westport natural gas

         24  engines, will meet 2010 levels of emission standards

         25  for NOX.
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          2                 Over the course of the service life

          3  of the vehicle, these differences add up to tons of

          4  pollutant reductions.

          5                 As engine manufacturers work to

          6  comply with the new emission standards for 2007, it

          7  is quite apparent that the current paradigm of cost

          8  of operating a certified engine, will change.

          9                 To meet the new emission regulations,

         10  diesel engine manufacturers will add new engine

         11  technologies, and exhaust after treatment.  And

         12  later, advanced Nox after treatment systems.  All of

         13  these solutions effect the efficiency of the engine,

         14  and add cost and weight to the vehicle that reduces

         15  payload, adds complexity, and presents some unique

         16  application problems for specialty vehicles, such as

         17  refuse trucks.  All of this says that future diesel

         18  powered refuse trucks will cost more to own and

         19  operate.

         20                 2007 diesel engines will also require

         21  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel to enable the effective

         22  operation of the exhaust after treatment.  Ultra low

         23  sulfur diesel fuel, will cost more, and may have

         24  lower energy content, and therefore will take more

         25  fuel to do the same amount of work.  Also in refuse,

                                                            109

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  diesel particulate filters will burn diesel fuel in

          3  the after treatment devices, to insure that they do

          4  not become plugged.  From time to time, the after

          5  treatment exhaust filters will also need to be

          6  cleaned and/or replaced.  A new formulation of

          7  lubricating oil and filters that can hold in

          8  suspension the increased contaminants to protect the

          9  engine and after treatment devices, will also be

         10  required.

         11                 In contrast, 2007 natural gas engines

         12  will not only have lower emissions, but will have

         13  improved efficiency, without active after treatment.

         14    Only a three way catalyst, similar to those used

         15  in the automobile, will be required.  This combined

         16  with the fuel costs savings of natural gas, can

         17  result in an overall savings for the City, over the

         18  life of the truck.

         19                 In past testimony, the Department of

         20  Sanitation raised their technical concerns with CNG

         21  vehicles.  In recent meetings, a group of vendors

         22  shared with the department, how they believe that

         23  current vehicle requirements, could be met with

         24  modern natural gas powered refuse vehicles.  The

         25  recent meeting set the stage as to how the
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          2  department and industry can work much closer

          3  together.

          4                 In the 90's, environmentally friendly

          5  natural gas engines were a luxury, not every

          6  community could afford. Yes, they were very clean,

          7  but they also had their own unique problems and

          8  operating costs consequences.  Today however,

          9  natural gas engines still provide a significant

         10  engine emission advantage, while at the same time,

         11  factually demonstrating they will be lower life

         12  cycle costs engines of choice.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14  Thank you, Mr. Lynch.  I appreciate your being here.

         15    Thank you.

         16                 Michael Hopper.

         17                 MR. HOPPER: Good afternoon, Chairman

         18  Gennaro and committee members.  My name is --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Speak really

         20  close to the microphone, it is better.

         21                 MR. HOPPER: My name is Mike Hopper.

         22  I am the South Western Regional Maintenance Manager

         23  for Autocar.  I have worked in the refuse and truck

         24  transportation industry for over 25 years. During my

         25  tenure in the refuse industry, I have seen great
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          2  changes in the equipment that is used to collect and

          3  transport solid waste and recyclable items of our

          4  society.

          5                 In 1997, I joined a waste company in

          6  southern California that began to integrate CNG

          7  power trucks into their fleet.  Change was hard, as

          8  the diesel power trucks are very reliable, and the

          9  first four Cummins L10 fully electronic CNG engines

         10  had some initial challenges to overcome, to meet the

         11  performance levels required.  The start up issues

         12  were short lived with the unprecedented commitment

         13  of the support of Cummins Engine Company, a

         14  technician was assigned our facility for the first

         15  year to approve the reliability of the gas product.

         16  As technologies continued to improve, the L10 gas

         17  platform soon had over 35 of the L10 gas units on

         18  the road every day.  At the same time, Cummins

         19  Engine Company was developing another CNG engine,

         20  that eventually replaced the L10 gas product.  The

         21  C8.3 gas engine was an improvement over the L10 gas

         22  design.  We re- powered over 15 diesel power units

         23  with the C8.3 gas engine experienced comparable,

         24  performance and reliability, as the diesel powered

         25  units.  The fleet has now over 60 Cummins gas
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          2  powered units in operation on a daily basis.

          3                 Cummins has continued product

          4  improvement with a release of the C+8.3 gas engine,

          5  and now the L- gas engine with increased horsepower

          6  and higher torque levels to improve drivability

          7  (sic.).

          8                 On the collection body side, we

          9  worked with the manufacturers to integrate the CNG

         10  cylinders into roof mount designs and side rail

         11  mounting packages, to keep from impacting the

         12  maneuverability of the trucks.

         13                 Change is difficult, and not without

         14  risks.  But without change, there is no gains.  You

         15  can see and breathe the gains we have today.

         16                 I believe DSNY has experienced some

         17  of the challenges with their alternative fuel

         18  projects in the past.  I also believe in having the

         19  right business partners through a transition will

         20  give DSNY the confidence they need for a successful

         21  CNG program.  Autocar is fully prepared to be that

         22  partner.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Hopper.  I will just point out that we still have

         25  the good people from the Department of Sanitation
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          2  still listening to all this testimony and I thank

          3  them for continuing to be here, and so you have

          4  several audiences for your testimony, and that is

          5  good.  Thank you, Mr. Hopper.

          6                 Mr. Hallahan.

          7                 MR. HALLAHAN: Good afternoon.  My

          8  name is Greg Hallahan.  I am the Vice President of

          9  Hallahan Trucks Sales.

         10                 I just want to start off and thank

         11  you for allowing me to make a few brief comments

         12  favoring the adoption of proposed 414 legislation.

         13  Our commitment to DSNY is to bring the best product

         14  Autocar Trucks and the best service Hallahan Truck

         15  Sales has a complete solution for Clean Air, CNG

         16  refuse trucks.

         17                 Our commitment is based on a long

         18  term relationship with DSNY, which we started with

         19  my father in 1984, and continues to today.  This

         20  relationship has lead to an understanding for the

         21  needs of quality products and services at DSNY. The

         22  pride DOS, Department of Sanitation, takes in their

         23  work is a critical service to the City's quality of

         24  life, is contingent upon companies and products who

         25  are equally proud to support them.
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          2                 Our Autocar refuse truck is proven

          3  and reliable.  We are the industry leader in CNG

          4  refuse trucks, with a proud history. Last year,

          5  Autocar built more alternative CNG refuse truck

          6  chassis, than did the three competitors, Mack, Crane

          7  Carrier and Peterbuilt, combined.

          8                 The early adoption of DSNY and other

          9  products has no reflection on how Autocar can be the

         10  solution today, to DSNY's challenges, as part of a

         11  group, of natural gas industry leaders who recently

         12  met with DSNY to discuss their truck issues.

         13                 Rocco, I just want to say, I

         14  personally say I understand your needs.  We get it.

         15                 We bring over 30 years of heavy duty

         16  truck experience to solve your truck chassis issues.

         17    As New York's most qualified natural gas truck

         18  service center, our team is committed to working

         19  with DSNY, to work through your issues.

         20                 We bring these years of experience as

         21  well as an authorized service center for the body

         22  manufacturer Cummins and Allison, all under one

         23  roof.

         24                 So to summarize, we just want to say,

         25  Mr. Chairman, that this, the complete solution to
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          2  all of DSNY's CNG truck service challenges, are with

          3  Hallahan Truck Sales, and that the Chairman and

          4  members of the committee, we want to thank you for

          5  letting us share some of our personal experiences.

          6  I want to say it takes courage to be a good citizen

          7  today, and by making such important rules on quality

          8  of air issues, I applaud you.

          9                 And as a truck and body technology

         10  supplier, we are committed to making your proposal

         11  work well for DSNY.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13  Gentlemen, thank you all very much.  I appreciate

         14  the opportunity here to hear all of your testimony,

         15  as does the Department of Sanitation.  And so we are

         16  grateful for your presence here today, and we wish

         17  you all good luck.  Thank you.  Thank you.

         18                 Brent Baker, Brent Baker.  Tri- State

         19  Biodiesel.  Is Mr. Baker in the house?  Okay, fine.

         20  Mr. Baker, thanks for being here.  Donna will get

         21  you started, and then you can proceed.

         22                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Please raise your

         23  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         24  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MR. BAKER: Yes, I do.

          3                 MS. DE COSTANZO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          5  Thank you for being here, Mr. Baker.

          6                 MR. BAKER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7  I appreciate your leadership on taking these

          8  initiatives to try to clean up the air here in New

          9  York City.

         10                 My name is Brent Baker.  I am an

         11  environmental advocate who has been active in the

         12  area since sustainable energy and alternative fuels,

         13  for over 15 years.

         14                 I want to speak to you today about a

         15  very important alternative diesel fuel, that should

         16  be included as an option in these proposed

         17  initiatives.  This is a fuel that has lower levels

         18  of harmful emissions and carcinogenic materials,

         19  than any of the other alternative fuels available on

         20  the market today.  It is a fuel that has been widely

         21  tested and approved by the USEPA, and as of last

         22  year, 35 million gallons of this fuel was used in

         23  diesel equipment across America, including about 250

         24  government fleets. If you have not guessed already,

         25  the fuel I am speaking of is clean, renewable,
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          2  domestically produced, Biodiesel fuel.  It is a

          3  subject that there has been some dancing around

          4  today, and I am happy to broach the subject here

          5  with you today.

          6                 I am bringing up Biodiesel fuel

          7  today, because despite the fact that Biodiesel is

          8  the cleanest burning alternative fuel available, it

          9  was not included in the definition of alternative

         10  fuels in today's initiatives.  To exclude Biodiesel

         11  fuel in these historic New York City Clean Air

         12  initiatives, would be a major missed opportunity,

         13  and should be corrected immediately.

         14                 Biodiesel is a tested safe

         15  biodegradable fuel, that can be used directly in

         16  unaltered diesel engines.  It can be made from both

         17  new and used vegetable oils, including waste

         18  restaurant grease, and reduces tail pipe emissions

         19  by about 75 percent overall.

         20                 As we talked today about emission

         21  treatment technology and low sulfur diesel fuel, as

         22  a way to reduce emissions, it is crucial to

         23  understand that Biodiesel fuel can help us achieve

         24  these results better, faster, and cheaper.  It is

         25  also important to understand, that I am not saying
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          2  you have to choose between ultra low sulfur diesel

          3  on the one hand, or Biodiesel on the other, rather,

          4  I am simply asking that Biodiesel fuel be included

          5  as one of the City's options, when considering

          6  appropriate alternative fuels.  In fact, some of the

          7  great advantages that Biodiesel offers, is its

          8  compatibility with emission treatment technology,

          9  and that it can be mixed with regular or low sulfur

         10  diesel fuel in any amount, and actually can be used

         11  as a compliment to diesel fuel.

         12                 In closing, I would like to mention a

         13  recent study that I am sure many of you are familiar

         14  with.  It is a study by the Clean Air Task Force,

         15  that found New York City to lead the nation in

         16  premature deaths due to the exposure of diesel

         17  fumes.  There have also been recent studies that

         18  show higher rates of birth defects, asthma,

         19  emphysema and cancer, as we all know.  This data

         20  highlights what amounts to a pollution crisis in our

         21  City, a crisis that affects us all, but

         22  disproportionately affects low income communities.

         23                 We owe it to our communities, our

         24  planet, to make available the full range of options

         25  to address this crisis, including the best
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          2  alternative fuel option, Biodiesel.  Biodiesel fuel

          3  is an option for City fleets, will encourage the

          4  growth of a forward thinking, locally owned, green

          5  industry, that can help New York City achieve lower

          6  emissions and at the same time, greater energy

          7  independence.

          8                 I urge you all, in the strongest

          9  possible terms, add Biodiesel fuel to the list of

         10  alternative fuels that are compatible with these

         11  initiatives.  Your lungs, your planet, and your

         12  constituents will thank you.  And I thank you, too.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14  Thank you, Mr. Baker.  Thank you for making such a

         15  strong case for Biodiesel.  We appreciate the

         16  opportunity to hear from you today.  Thank you.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 Anyone from the general contractors?

         19  We had called them earlier to speak, general

         20  contractors?  Okay.

         21                 Okay.  There are some entities that

         22  submitted written testimony.  Denise Sheehan of the

         23  New York State DEC, and Ray Werner, a good friend of

         24  this committee, Ray Werner of the USEPA Region 2,

         25  and the New York League of Conservation Voters also
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          2  submitted written testimony.

          3                 Is there anyone else that wishes to

          4  be heard?  Okay. Seeing no one, this hearing is

          5  adjourned.  Thank you.  Thank you all.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:55 p.m.)
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